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report information
this report

Our financial and business-related
activities for the fiscal year from 
1 July 2002 to 30 June 2003 form 
the basis of this report.

We aim to communicate a clear and
accurate account of the port’s
performance during this period and
touch on how we see the port
progressing in the coming year.

This report is geared to a range of
different audiences, with our primary
target group being our stakeholders,
customers, employees, and government
and industry sectors.

It is also a key marketing tool widely
circulated nationally and internationally to
existing and potential customers and all
other interested parties.

For the first time we have produced 
500 compact disc versions of this report
in an effort to further minimise
production costs and tap into the
benefits of such technology.

We have again reduced the total number
of hard copies, this time from 1000 
to 850.

An on-line version of the report is 
also available on our website 
www.townsville-port.com.au

publication availability

Hard copies and compact disc versions
of this report are free on request.

If you wish to receive either version
please call 61 7 4781 1500, or for an
electronic version visit our website
www.townsville-port.com.au/annualreports

To be listed on our database and
automatically receive future publications,
let us know by completing the
appropriate section of the feedback form
located at the back of this report.

your comments

Our 2001/02 annual report received an
Excellence Award at the Institute of
Internal Auditors Annual Report Awards.

We make every effort to ensure our
annual report is accurate, clear and
professional – the three vital ingredients
we feel make a successful annual report.

We strive to achieve these benchmarks,
and welcome your comments and
suggestions via the feedback form at
the back of this report.
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report theme
Townsville city turned 100 during the
2002/2003 financial year. The Port 
of Townsville is proud to have been 
a pivotal part of this history while
continuing to be an integral element 
of this modern regional city.

As one of the busiest ports in Australia,
the Authority attracts substantial
business investment. This in turn
enhances the infrastructure of Townsville
through direct and indirect employment
opportunities, community awareness and
the support of local activities. 

These themes, along with the prominent
use of font and colours from the newly
launched corporate identity, have been
used throughout the 2002/2003 annual
report to reflect the progressive and
dynamic nature of the Port of Townsville.

Front cover photo:
The docking of bulk carrier Emerald Halo in February 2003 marks 40 million tonnes 
of nickel ore passing through the Townsville Port since 1985/86.

www.townsville-port.com.au
www.townsville-port.com.au/annualreports


It continues to be one of the State’s
fastest growing ports, and this financial
year celebrated its sixteenth year of
record trade throughput with 9,818,703
tonnes of cargo.

The Townsville Port Authority (the
Authority) is a statutory Government
Owned Corporation that manages this
dynamic and diverse port, a breakwater
harbour with a land and sea jurisdiction
in excess of 400 square kilometres.

The Authority has more than 70
employees across a broad spectrum of
fields including engineering, business
development, environment, finance, port
services and the workshop.

The Authority was created in its current
form on 1 July 1995 and operates
under the Government Owned Corporations
Act 1993, which allows the port to
operate as a statutory authority.

The port is situated in the heart of
tropical North Queensland, and is unique
in that its sea jurisdiction encompasses
the World Heritage area adjacent to the
Great Barrier Reef Marine Park.

The port itself contains a rich mix of
Townsville Port Authority, Queensland
Government and privately owned and
operated facilities – making it both a
vibrant and ever-growing commercial hub.

The Authority is responsible for
facilitating trade through the port by
effectively managing its marine
operations and land-based resources.

Customers play a vital role in the port.
Their needs are met by the provision of
safe navigation within the harbour, by
ensuring ongoing development with
dredging and reclamation works, and the
timely provision of port services.

This year the port also played a key role
in Townsville’s centenary city
celebrations, a year-long calendar of
events designed specifically to mark 
100 years since Townsville’s declaration
as a city in 1903.

Since the port’s first wharf was
constructed in 1863, the port has
remained central to the economic
development of the city and its
surrounds.

In the early days it helped kick-start
some locally-produced commodities like
sugar, and presently the entire port
community employs more than 
7,900 people.

In fact, the future of the city and the
port look set to continue along this
parallel as far as growth and
development are concerned.

The Authority and the entire port
community embrace the opportunity to
continue their strong economic and
social relationship with the city and the
wider region.

For more information about our history,
operations and current events, visit us
on-line at www.townsville-port.com.au
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>about us
Townsville Port is Queensland’s third largest
commercial port, providing all of North
Queensland with a world class gateway 
for commerce and trade.

www.townsville-port.com.au


> Anticipate and be responsive to our customers’ needs

> Operate in a responsible and ethical manner

> Ensure sustainable environmental management is a 
core component of port operations and development

> Promote and recognise innovation in customer service 
and work process

> Maintain an open and motivating work environment

> Promote efficiency in port operations

> Operate in a sustainable manner, taking into account 
broad community, social, environmental and urban
development issues

> Achieve a rate of return on assets for shareholders

> Increase profitability

Our corporate identity was given a complete overhaul this 
year, culminating with the release of a new logo.

The logo aims to strengthen our corporate identity by 
creating a consistent and cohesive image that will showcase
the port as an efficient, progressive and modern organisation. 

It was designed to represent Nexus, a centre for import and
export in North Queensland.

The logo features a dynamic and bold symbol reminiscent 
of a ship’s propeller, with the use of converging lines to
represent latitude and longitude and colour to symbolise the
meeting of land and sea.

The four segments, or "blades," represent the four key
elements the Authority takes into consideration in all its
dealings: industry, trade, community and environment.
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>our philosophy
our mission is to manage Townsville Port in a manner that allows our existing

customers to maximise their business opportunities and encourage new customers 

to utilise the port whilst earning a commercial rate of return for our shareholders.

core values our new corporate identity
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>milestones
> trade record
Townsville Port exceeded its previous trade record and reached its sixteenth
consecutive year of record trade. A total of 9,818,703 tonnes of cargo passed
through the Townsville Port during the 2002/2003 financial year.

> cattle boom
Live cattle export trade from the Townsville Port also increased during this financial
year and eclipsed all previous trade records. Export figures show the previous record
of 122,338 head of live cattle, set in 1999/00, was broken only eight months into
the 2002/03 financial year. By the end of the 2002/03 financial year 165,181 head
of live cattle had passed through the port.

> records set
New record nickel ore import of 67,532 tonnes aboard the Asian Nova, with a draft
of 13.1 metres also being the deepest to enter the port (2 June 2003). 

Queensland Nickel and Townsville Port celebrate 40 million tonnes of nickel ore
through the port since 1985/86 (February 2003).

> major infrastructure
Work continues on Queensland Sugar Limited’s 400,000 tonne capacity third sugar shed.

> capital works
More than $2.8 million spent on services, plant upgrades, completing the fender
upgrade of berth 2 and 3 and other works.

> maintenance
In excess of $1.5 million was spent on dredging this year, with a further $1 million
earmarked for stabilisation and placement of onshore material in the coming year.
Further concrete repairs were undertaken, costing approximately $2.2 million.

> commercial port operations
Average berth occupancy increased slightly from 28.05 per cent to 29.67 per cent
this year, and 803 ships docked at the port. The majority (296) were bulk carriers
followed by general cargo vessels (160) and tankers (102).

> financial outcomes
Revenue from all operations increased from $25.2 million in 2001/02 to $25.7
million in 2002/03. An increase in trade throughput resulted in an increase in
shipping related revenue of 6%, however the loss of pilotage revenue due to the
devolution of these operations back to Queensland Transport from October 2002
curtailed the increase in total revenue from all operations to a modest 2%.

This increase in revenue was more than offset by an increase in maintenance
expenditure resulting in earnings before interest and tax falling from $2.29 million in
2001/02 to $0.98 million in 2002/03. The increase in maintenance costs was
predominantly due to the $2.5 million cost of the dredging campaign carried out in
the channel and harbour which had been postponed from the 2001/02 financial year.

Borrowing costs expense of $1.22 million and tax equivalents expense of 
$0.58 million reduced the operating result to a net loss of $0.82 million compared to a
net profit of $0.09 million in 2001/2002. The borrowing costs are attributable to the
$23 million loan from Queensland Treasury Corporation drawn down in the previous
financial year to fund an equity repayment to shareholders. The balance of this loan
account is now $19.66 million, down from $21.5 million at the end of 2001/2002.

www.townsville-port.com.au
mailto:info@townsville-port.com.au
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>chairman’s report

More than 9.8 million tonnes of cargo
passed over the Townsville Port’s
wharves during the 2002/2003 year,
surpassing last year’s trade record by
around 500,000 tonnes.

While this year was peppered with many
achievements and exciting
developments, reaching our sixteenth
consecutive year of record trade is
among the greatest in this long list.

Although it is easy to be impressed 
by the sheer numbers involved, it is
important to remember such milestones
come only from the dedication and hard
work from a committed and progressive
port community.

This philosophy of dedication and
commitment – something that has
characterised port workers from the
earliest days – provides the impetus to
achieve results and will be something
that we will try to apply to all future
business activities.

Increased tonnage from nickel ore,
fertilisers, sugar and live cattle exports
contributed greatly to the increase in
cargo handled during the year and we
expect this pattern to continue for the
coming financial year.

A significant factor in sugar exports will
be the opening of a new 400,000 tonne
capacity sugar shed, which commences
operations from September 2003.

port development
Since my last report, investigations were
made into the ways and means we can
utilise and thus benefit financially from
land the port owns and could develop.

Studies were undertaken regarding the
construction of an Ocean Terminal, 
as well as development of port land on
the eastern and western sides of Ross
Creek, a Commercial Marina on Ross
River and further development of the
western side of Ross River.

The port worked closely with the
Townsville City Council and government
representatives on these matters and, 
if our planning comes to fruition, it will
substantially change the face of Ross
River and Ross Creek.

It will also ultimately reflect on the
presentation of the City of Townsville
and correspond with the long term
planning of the CBD Taskforce.

port access study
Subsequent upon an announcement by
Minister for State Development Tom
Barton for the use of land as an
industrial estate in the vicinity of the
proposed route for the access corridor, 
it is hoped this could bring forward the
timing of the construction of the corridor
to earlier than 2015.

Tonnage through the Townsville Port continues to
grow and expand year by year at a rate that even
sometimes manages to surprise the veterans
amongst our port and shipping community.



environmental park
The first stage of the Environmental
Park was completed at a cost of
$800,000 and it is anticipated the
finalisation of works will be completed 
in the 2004 financial year.

board appointments
Good leadership skills and a head for
business are essential to ensuring an
organisation is productive, progressive
and prosperous.

Such skills are demonstrated by all my
fellow Board Directors and were likely to
have been a motivating factor in the re-
appointment of the five Directors whose
terms expired on 30 June 2003.

Tony Mooney, John Pennisi, Beth
Keating and Terrence Baxter were all 
re-appointed to the Board for a period of
two years.

I welcome my re-appointment as
Chairman as it gives me the opportunity
to work alongside such a dedicated
group of Directors.

corporate governance
The Authority is committed to ensuring
quality and consistent performance in
Corporate Governance, and some
policies were examined this year to
ensure this goal is being achieved.

Among the policies were a formal Code
of Conduct and a draft Succession Plan
that were endorsed by the Human
Resources Committee in May and 
June 2003 respectively.

The Employee Code of Conduct,
circulated to all employees in late 
May 2003, outlines our expectations 
of employee’s performances and
responsibilities. The draft Succession
Plan, which is to be approved in the
coming year, also demonstrates our
commitment to identifying and
developing the strength and depth of 
our employees.

audit committee
The Audit Committee met on three
occasions this year and continues to
play a vital role in ensuring the Authority
meets its many obligations. I am
extremely pleased with the Committee’s
performance this year and expect the
group to continue applying the same
diligence and attention to detail in the
years to come.

human resource committee
This Committee met on three occasions
in what was a very productive year and
covered succession planning, a drug and
alcohol policy, remuneration reviews and
organisational structures.

looking ahead
The future continues to look bright for the
Port of Townsville, something all those at
the Authority are working hard to ensure.

We aim to ensure the port continues to
move forward by working closely with our
port users and customers, looking to
expand and tap into burgeoning overseas
markets, and continuing and nurturing
relationships already made with industries
and sister cities in neighbouring nations.

The Townsville Port Authority is always
mindful of the contribution given by our
bulk customers like Qld Sugar, QNI,
Xstrata Copper, BHP Billiton, WMC
Fertilizers, Korea Zinc and so forth -
without them we would not be reporting
record trade years. Their continued
existence, together with the advent of
other mineral findings coming on stream,
is very important to our port operations.

The Cities of Townsville and Thuringowa
are economically advancing at a greatly
increased rate. This, coupled with a
population increase and associated
development, encourages us to continue
our role.

The Port of Townsville - the gateway to
Townsville and North West Queensland -
will continue to serve the community
efficiently as it has done in past years.

No doubt there will be some obstacles
along the way, but we will continue to
work out and overcome these obstacles
in the same vigorous and pro-active way
that has helped us do so in the past.

On behalf of the Board, I again wish to
record my appreciation to the
management team and employees for
their dedication and continuing support.

This year’s results, especially another year
of record tonnage, would not have been
met without their commitment to the port.
On behalf of the Board, I acknowledge
and thank them for their efforts.
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As Chairman, I sincerely thank 
all of my fellow Directors for
their support and assistance -
their input during the year has
been vital to our success.

Ron McLean
Chairman



the port city that grew
Given the Port of Townsville’s long 
and close association with the city, we
feature prominently in the year-long
centenary celebrations and also lent
financial support to celebrate this
significant event.

In particular, we will be involved in the
centenary city sky show fireworks
spectacular expected to attract more
than 80,000 spectators when staged in
September 2003.

Earlier this year the contribution of port
workers was also commemorated in the
"Townsville Yarns" series, gatherings that
aimed to unite people with a common
bond and collect the social history of 
the city.

smashing trade records
Since its inception more than 107 years
ago, the Authority has been a catalyst
and partner for establishing and
developing a range of North Queensland
industries. Our continued success in
doing so is reflected in this year’s 
trade statistics.

During the 2002/03 financial year the
port again broke its own trade record
and achieved its sixteenth consecutive
year of record trade with more than 
9.8 million tonnes of cargo passing over 
the wharves.

Of the twelve cargo types commonly
imported at the port, six were imported
at a higher rate than the previous year.
This included motor vehicles, petroleum
products, zinc concentrates, sulphur,
cement and sulphuric acid.

Export figures show the previous record
of 122,338 head of live cattle, set in
1999/00, was broken eight months into
the 2002/03 financial year.

By the end of the 2002/03 financial
year a total of 165,181 head of live
cattle had been loaded onto 52
shipments destined for the Philippines,
Indonesia, Egypt, Vietnam, Samoa 
and Malaysia.

> from the 
chief executive officer
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In 2003 Townsville celebrates its first 100 years 
of being declared a city, with the milestone also
highlighting the key role the port played in the
establishment, development and growth of this
vibrant, dynamic city.



port profitability
Cargo tonnage increases do not,
however, correspond with increased
profitability.

Substantial maintenance of critical
infrastructure continues to drain
profitability and, to help offset the costs,
port charges for vessels were increased
by 6 per cent from 1 March 2003.
Charges on cargo will increase by 
3.4 per cent from 1 July 2003 after a
long period of no increase.

Although a number of our customers
expressed concern about the increases,
the Authority had no alternative to help
rectify the situation.

On 1 October 2002, the marine pilots
formerly employed by the Authority were
devolved to Maritime Safety Queensland
(MSQ). This resulted in a loss of
revenue for the Authority, however we
retained provision of pilot transfer
services under a contract with MSQ.

future diversification
To further diversify the Authority’s
revenue base, emphasis was placed on
developing and leasing vacant lands
under the Authority’s control. Strategic
plans have been prepared for a number
of areas and negotiations are underway
with potential tenants.

Several parcels of land have also been
acquired to consolidate into existing land
holdings to improve the development
potential, provide for the future
development of the port and protect the
integrity of the Authority’s other land
holdings and activities.

To this end, the Authority’s officers have
established and maintained a close
working relationship with Townsville City
Council, Townsville Enterprise Limited
and the Regional Harbour Master.

industrial relations
On the industrial relations front, this year
was peaceful and productive with a high
level of stability restored in the Authority.

Enterprise Bargaining Agreements were
negotiated – but not yet certified in the
Industrial Relations Commission – 
for Port Services Officers and
Administrative, Technical, Supervisory
and Professional Employees.

There was no time lost to industrial
dispute and any matters that arose were
addressed in accordance with the dispute
resolution provisions of the Agreements.

our team
A number of employees left the Authority
this year to pursue other activities and
enhance their career experiences.

After some structural changes to meet
the Authority’s evolving requirements,
several new employees came on board.

Eleven employees undertook tertiary
studies in accordance with the
Authority’s Education Policy, with all
employees demonstrating considerable
scholastic ability. The Board has now
accepted a policy of succession planning
for employees, commencing with the
senior management level.

A drug and alcohol policy was drafted
during the year in close consultation with
employee representatives.

Base line testing of all employees for the
presence of prohibited substances
followed an extensive education
program, and results confirmed our
employees have a responsible attitude to
safety. It is anticipated, following further
refinement of the policy and further
negotiations, the policy will be
implemented in the second half of 2003.

structure and strategy
During the past year we imposed a
higher degree of structure in the
Authority and established a clear vision
for the future development of the port.

In terms of structure, policies have been
reviewed, updated or drafted as
appropriate with the overriding criteria of
fairness, equity and transparency.

Whilst still being developed, a number of
strategic plans will position and direct
the Authority’s development of port
areas well into the next decade.

The plans include an Eastern Port
Access Corridor linking the port to the
road and a rail node at Stuart, south of
the City. This is a critical piece of
infrastructure that will also provide
access to the proposed State
Development Area expected to be
declared by the Queensland Government
in due course.

major maintenance
During the Board’s budget deliberations
they accepted, in principle, a
maintenance program designed to
complete major maintenance and
upgrading works on critical infrastructure
within a five year timeframe.

In the 2003/2004 financial year
budgeted works include $1.8 million for
concrete repairs to Berth 1 and
upgrading of High Voltage cabling and
associated electrical installations to
ensure the continued reliability of
services to our customers.
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hosting navy vessels
This year the port hosted 34 Australian,
United States and New Zealand naval
vessels.

Visits by large United States Navy
vessels, such as the USS Tarawa and
USS Boxer, again showed Townsville is
the port of choice for these types of
vessels and their personnel.

The Ocean Terminal proposal presently
under consideration will provide
dedicated berthing facilities for naval and
cruise vessels in the future.

sugar storage facility
During the year, the third sugar shed
rose to dominate the port’s skyline.

The 400,000 tonne capacity shed is
expected to be completed in September
2003, and will shortly after begin storing
sugar from the 2003 harvest.

dredging
Dredging of the inner harbour was
undertaken during the year after
rigorous sampling and analysis
confirmed the most appropriate method
of handling contaminated sediments.

This material was pumped ashore and
will be handled and monitored in
accordance with agreements between
the Authority, Xstrata Copper Australia
and QNI.

environmental buffer zone
Stage one of the environmental buffer
zone project saw around 50 local
workers move thousands of cubic
metres of soil and place more than
90,000 native plants along residential
areas bordering the port.

It targeted the streetscapes of Benwell
Road and Boundary Street, throughout
the old phosphate loop area and along
the narrow strip of land between
residential areas and Harbourside
Coldstores.

More than eight hectares of land
underwent a makeover during this 
phase of the project, taking several
months to complete at a total cost in
excess of $730,000.

Further works will be undertaken in the
coming year.

consultation and contributions
We maintained our membership and
active involvement with a number of
regional development organisations
including Townsville Enterprise Limited,
Townsville Chamber of Commerce, and
Mount Isa to Townsville Economic Zone.

We again participated in the Mount Isa
Mining Expo, and continue to encourage
interested groups to tour the port and be
briefed on our activities.

We continued a decade-long tradition of
holding a Board meeting in Mount Isa in
July, which gives our Directors and
senior staff an opportunity to refresh and
renew relationships in the region and
keep informed about developments.

future developments
The future for the Townsville Port
remains positive, with a number of
projects on the drawing board.

This includes a security upgrade in
accordance with the International Ship
and Port Security Code, ambitious
maintenance programs and capital
expenditure, and seeking new and
increased trades and cargoes to further
increase both cargo volumes and
profitability.

I would like to place on 
record my appreciation to 

the Chairman and Directors 
for their strong support over
the past year, and to all the

Authority’s employees whose
efforts ensured the port 

was available to all of our
customers when required. 

I look forward to their
continuing support in 

the coming year.

Barry Holden
Chief Executive Officer
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our responsibilities
Our commitment to corporate
governance is demonstrated by
producing a Draft Board Protocol and
Charter in the first half of 2003. This
document establishes a framework for
corporate governance for the Board in
the interests of ensuring accountability,
responsibility and transparency in our
decision making and business processes.

We recognise our responsibility rests
with various stakeholders, including
shareholding Ministers, port customers,
service providers, our employees and
the wider community. It is important to
us to go beyond legal obligations by
displaying a real commitment to
corporate social responsibility.

To us, measuring success is more than
assessing financial performance. We
consider broader social, environmental,
moral and ethical ramifications of our
activities, and integrate principles of
corporate social responsibility into our
culture and day-to-day management.
We consider it important to both
succeed in business and actively invest
in our people, the environment and 
the community.

code of conduct
A formal Code of Conduct was endorsed
by the Human Resources Committee on
13 May 2003 and circulated to all
employees later that month. This code
outlines our expectations of employee
performance, duties and responsibilities in
the interests of professionalism,
compliance with legislative requirements
and respect and appreciation for others.

succession planning
We are committed to identifying,
developing and retaining individuals with
leadership qualities who are capable of
implementing current and future
organisational goals.

We are focused on future requirements,
and providing high potential and high
performing employees with
developmental experiences that will
equip them with skills to meet the future
demands and direction of the Authority.

A draft Succession Plan was endorsed
by the Human Resources Committee in
June 2003. It is anticipated the Board
will approve the plan early in the next
financial year, and it will be implemented
through mentoring, training and
development, employee consultation and
on-going monitoring and assessment.

corporate planning
Our Statement of Corporate Intent
specifies our financial and non-financial
performance targets for our activities for
the current financial year. It also includes
other matters that are required by the
Government Owned Corporations Act 1993.
Our achievements, which are measured
against the Statement of Corporate Intent,
are outlined in the annual report.

risk management and
business continuity planning
This year the Authority completed two
risk reviews on transporting explosives
and hazardous substances.

The first review assessed prudent limits
for quantities of explosives either
transiting the port or stored in the port
area. This review assisted the Board to
set limits and guidelines for the handling
of explosives within the port area.

The second focussed on risks from
hazardous substances to people and
property in the port area and in adjacent
precincts, with the information to be
used in future land use planning within
the port area.

Both reviews will contribute to a
comprehensive plan to ensure, as our
port expands, we minimise exposure to
risks, discharge our obligations for safety
and security and ensure due diligence.
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>corporate governance
We recognise the importance of corporate governance and actively ensure
awareness of, and compliance with, legislation and policies relevant to 
the Authority.
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conflicts of interest
The Government Owned Corporations Act
1993 requires Directors with a material
personal interest in any matter to be
excluded from and not to vote on the
matter. Directors declare an interest in a
matter and leave the meeting if it is
being discussed.

privacy
Government Owned Corporations are
required to comply with Information
Standard 42: Information Privacy.

The Authority’s Privacy Plan, made in
accordance with Information Standard 42,
was approved by the Board of Directors
and submitted to the shareholding
Ministers in the second half of 2002.

A comprehensive review of internal
procedures and legislation was
undertaken over the past 12 months.
The Privacy Plan will be reviewed in the
second half of 2003 in accordance with
Quality Assurance and internal audit
requirements. Implementation of the
Privacy Plan is ongoing.

recordkeeping
We are required to comply with
Information Standard 40: Recordkeeping 
and Information Standard 41: Managing
Technology-Dependent Records issued
under the Financial Management
Standard 1997.

These standards aim to assist public
authorities to comply with legislative
requirements for the making, retention
and disposal of records.

Comprehensive reviews of existing
information retention practices and
procedures commenced in the first half
of 2003.

A Strategic Recordkeeping
Implementation Plan is required to be
submitted to Queensland State Archives
for approval by 31 August 2003, and it
is expected the Standards will be fully
implemented by December 2007.

freedom of information
The Freedom of Information Act 1992
(the Act) provides a general right of
access to documents held by Ministers,
State Government departments, local
authorities and most semi-government
agencies and statutory authorities.

The Act places an obligation on the
agency to provide information requested,
unless the information requested is
deemed exempt under specific
provisions of the Act.

As a Government Owned Corporation,
we are required to provide certain
documents requested under the Act.

The Authority completed one Freedom
of Information application during the
2002/2003 financial year. The request
was not refused or transferred to
another agency.

>2002/2003 annual freedom 
of information figures

> Applications Received: 1

> Applications Completed: 1

> Information Provided: 1

> Information Exempt: 0

> Time Taken to Process:

0-10 Days 1

11-21 Days 0

21+ Days 0

> Actual Hours to Process:

0-3 Hours 1

4-7 Hours 0

> Expense to Process:

$0-$30 1

$30-$60 0

$60+ 0

senior executive remuneration
The Authority has in place an
Employment and Industrial Relations
Plan developed in accordance with
Government guidelines.

Our remuneration policy provides for a
review of salaries for senior executives
during June of each year, with any
increases effective 1 July.

This policy also requires shareholding
Ministers be advised of any proposed
changes to remuneration arrangements
before any variations are made, and that
proposed remuneration arrangements
are consistent with the overall
performance of the port.

In accordance with the Remuneration
Guidelines for Directors and Senior Executives
in GOCs, the Authority does not engage in
the practice of awarding performance
based at risk incentive bonuses to
Directors or Senior Executives unless prior
endorsement of shareholding Ministers
has been obtained. No performance
based at risk incentive payments were
made during the 2002/03 year.

quality management system
ISO 9001
This year the Authority maintained
certification to ISO 9001:1994.
Additionally, significant work was
undertaken to ensure the Authority is in
a position to upgrade to the new
standard ISO 9001:2000 by December
2003. The Authority is committed to the
continuous improvement of our Business
Management System.

To us, measuring success is 
more than assessing financial
performance.
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senior executive remuneration Base Employer Other Benefits Total 
Emoluments of Senior Executive Officers Year Salary Super (incl vehicle) Emoluments

> Chief Executive Officer - B. Holden 01/02 45,485 5,686 5,250 56,421 

(from 4/3/02) 02/03 149,500 18,687 17,715 185,902 

> Manager - Major Projects - M. Norman 01/02 119,515 16,173 15,573 151,261 

(previously A/CEO from 30/10/00 to 3/3/02) 02/03 100,000 16,173 16,377 132,550 

> Manager - Engineering & Environment - L. Hore 01/02 95,000 7,600 22,388 124,988 

02/03 97,850 8,806 20,817 127,473 

non-executive director remuneration Committee Employer Vehicle Total
Emoluments of Directors Director Fees Fees Super Allowance Emoluments

> 2001/2002

R.G. McLean 22,000 1,200 1,856 1,088 26,144 

B.K. Keating 10,000 2,150 972 - 13,122 

T.P. Baxter 10,000 1,300 904 1,191 13,395 

A.J. Mooney 10,000 - 800 - 10,800 

T.G. Parker 10,000 900 872 - 11,772 

G. Pennisi 10,000 900 872 - 11,772 

S.B. Graw 10,000 1,250 900 - 12,150 

J.M. Gleeson 10,000 1,000 880 - 11,880 

> 2002/2003

R.G. McLean 22,000 1,600 2,124 1,465 27,189 

B.K. Keating 10,000 2,200 1,098 - 13,298 

T.P. Baxter 10,000 1,500 1,035 2,237 14,772 

A.J. Mooney 10,000 - 900 - 10,900 

T.G. Parker 10,000 1,200 1,008 592 12,800 

G. Pennisi 10,000 1,200 1,008 446 12,654 

S.B. Graw 10,000 1,000 990 - 11,990 

J.M.Gleeson 10,000 1,000 990 - 11,990 

overseas travel for the period 1 july 2002 to 30 june 2003 Costs/ Funding $AUS (rounded)
Country/s Date of Date Actual(A) or Estimate(E)

Name of Officer Title/Position Visited Departure Return Purpose of Visit Agency $ Other $

> Ron McLean Chairman Shanghai 11/10/02 23/10/02 Trade opportunities 11,177.32
Beijing
Guanzhou

> Barry Holden Chief Executive Shanghai 11/10/02 27/10/02 Trade opportunites 12,226.66
Officer Beijing and attend 

Guanzhou conference in Dalian
Dalian

> Barry Holden Chief Executive Vietnam 26/11/02 5/12/02 DPI Agribusiness 7,873.13
Officer Mission

> Ron McLean Chairman South Africa 21/5/03 2/6/03 Attend IAPH 8,731.76
Conference in 
Durban

> Barry Holden Chief Executive South Africa 21/5/03 2/6/03 Attend IAPH 8,474.51
Officer Conference in 

Durban
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The Authority’s Board of Directors are
appointed by the Governor in Council on
the recommendation of the shareholding
Ministers, as required by the Government
Owned Corporations Act 1993 (GOC Act).

Under the GOC Act, the Board is
ultimately responsible and accountable
for the management and operation of
the Authority.

This includes the Authority’s commercial
policy and management; achieving the
objectives and acting in accordance with
the Statement of Corporate Intent;
accounting to shareholding Ministers for
performance; and ensuring the Authority
otherwise performs its functions in a
proper, effective and efficient way.

Ron McLean Chairman

> Appointed 1 July 1999 for four years.
Term expired on 30 June 2003, 
re-appointed until 30 June 2005.

Ron retired as Managing Director of
News Limited after 37 years in the print
media industry. He is currently a Director
of Townsville Enterprise Limited. 
Age 67 years.

Beth Keating Deputy Chair

> Appointed 1 July 1999 for four years.
Term expired on 30 June 2003, 
re-appointed until 30 June 2006.

As Director of the Consulting Company
and a senior consultant with Keating
Consultancies, Beth has extensive
knowledge of the Townsville business
and community sector. She also has
wide public and private sector
experience in human resources and
employee relations. Beth is a member of
the Australian Institute of Company
Directors and the Equal Opportunity
Practitioner’s Association. Age 46 years.

Terry Baxter Director

> Original appointment from 1 July
1999 for two years. Re-appointed 
1 July 2001 for two years. 
Term expired on 30 June 2003, 
re-appointed until 30 June 2005.

As a partner of the firm Ruddy, Tomlins
and Baxter, Terry practices commercial
law and litigation. He is a member of the
North Queensland Law Association and
Ayr Chamber of Commerce, and is also
President of the Lower Burdekin Home
for the Aged Society. Age 55 years.

Jennifer Gleeson Director

> Appointed 1 July 1999 for four years.
Term expired on 30 June 2003, 
re-appointed until 30 June 2005.

Jennifer is an Associate for Lee Turnbull
and Co, where she deals with
commercial litigation, leasing and
industrial relations. She is a Graduate
Member of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors and volunteer lawyer
for the North Queensland Women’s
Legal Service. Age 33 years.

Stephen Graw Director

> Appointed 1 July 2001 for four years.
Term expires on 30 June 2005.

As a Law Professor and Head of the
Law School at James Cook University,
Stephen specialises in commercial and
taxation law and has written and 
co-authored five textbooks on these
topics. He is currently Chair of the North
Queensland Military Museum Committee
of Management and Jezzine Area
Occupational Health and Safety
Committee. He is also a Brigadier in the
Army Reserve where he is currently
Commander of the 11th Brigade. 
Age 50 years.

>our board
(Back) John Pennisi, Dale Parker, Jennifer Gleeson, Terry Baxter, 
(Front) Beth Keating, Stephen Graw, Tony Mooney and Ron McLean



Tony Mooney Director

> Appointed 1 July 2001 for four years.
Term expired on 30 June 2003, 
re-appointed until 30 June 2005.

Tony has 22 years experience in local
government, and also serves in senior
positions on local authority boards within
Australia. He has been Mayor of the City
of Townsville since 1989, is President of
the Urban Local Government Association
of Queensland and also an Executive
Member of the Local Government
Association of Queensland. Tony is
Board Chairman on both the Townsville
Breakwater Entertainment Centre Joint
Venture and Willows Sporting Complex
Joint Venture. He is a life member of a
number of organisations and patron of
several sporting and community groups.
Age 49 years.

Dale Parker Director

> Appointed 1 July 2001 for four years.
Term expires on 30 June 2005.

Dale retired from the Australian waterfront
in 1991 after a career of long distance
truck driving, plant operating and 18 years
of stevedoring in the east coast Australian
ports. He previously served on the Board
from 1990 to 1996. He is currently
Chairman of the Townsville City Council
Finance and Corporate Services
Committees, the Disability Advisory
Committee, the North Queensland
Paralympic Games Committee and is a
Board member of the North Queensland
Military Museum, Maritime Museum of
Townsville and the Mt Isa to Townsville
Economic Development Zone (MITEZ).
Dale was elected as a Townsville City
Councillor in August 1998 and re-elected
unopposed in March 2000. Age 63 years.

John Pennisi Director

> Appointed 1 July 2001 for two years.
Term expired on 30 June 2003, 
re-appointed until 30 June 2006.

This year John retired and sold his paper
and cardboard recycling company, Finjon
Paper Recyclers. He previously served
in the Queensland Police Service from
1970 to 1995, and is a qualified
electrician and builder with the
Queensland Building Services Authority.
John has a Diploma in Management and
has also served on various community
organisations. Age 57 years.

board meetings
Board meetings are generally held on
the third Tuesday of each calendar
month, except January when no Board
meeting is held. This year the Board met
on 11 occasions, with the July 2002
Board meeting taking place in Mt Isa.

audit committee
In 2002/2003 the Audit Committee met
on three occasions. The Committee
comprises Terry Baxter (Chair), 
Beth Keating, Jenny Gleeson and
Stephen Graw.

Acting as an advisory service to the
Board, the Audit Committee performs
the following core functions:

> Ensure compliance with, and assist in,
the discharge of responsibilities
prescribed in the Financial
Administration and Audit Act 1977, the
Financial Management Standard 1997 and
other relevant legislation relating to
accounting policy and disclosure

> Assess and contribute to the audit
planning processes relating to the
risks and threats to the Authority,
taking into account the financial and
operational environment in which it
operates and its performance
management framework

> Assess and enhance the Authority’s
corporate governance, including its
systems of internal control and the
internal audit function

> Evaluate the quality of, and facilitate
the practical discharge of, the internal
audit function particularly in respect
to planning, monitoring and reporting

> Through the internal audit function,
oversee and appraise the Authority’s
financial and operational reporting
process

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC) provides
an effective internal audit service to the
Authority, driven by a methodology
focusing on providing assurance and
enhancing shareholder value. PWC’s
contract to carry out the internal audit
services was extended for a further
three years commencing 1 July 2003.

human resources committee
In 2002/2003 the Human Resources
Committee met on four occasions. 
The Committee comprises Ron McLean
(Chair), Beth Keating, Dale Parker and
John Pennisi.

The Committee assists the Board in
fulfilling its corporate governance
responsibilities by:

> Reviewing recommendations by the
Chief Executive Officer on human
resource matters

> Ensuring compliance with statutory
responsibilities and applicable
policies relating to human resources,
employment and industrial relations
matters

> Establishing and reviewing proposed
plans and policies relating to
employment conditions and industrial
relations matters, and monitoring
their implementation

board flying minutes
6 January 2003
Purchase of Breakwater Terminal 
(Lots 3, 4 and 5 on EP2330 and 
Lots 784 and 785 on EP2254)

8 May 2003
Dividend Recommendation 2002/2003
Financial Year

townsvi l le por t  author i t y annual  repor t  2002/2003 13

>attendances
Board Meetings Audit Committee Human Resources 

Committee

Eligible Eligible Eligible
to Attend Attended to Attend Attended to Attend Attended

Ron McLean 11 11 - - 4 4

Beth Keating 11 9 3 3 4 4

Terry Baxter 11 10 3 3 - -

Jenny Gleeson 11 9 3 3 - -

Stephen Graw 11 10 3 3 - -

Tony Mooney 11 8 - - - -

Dale Parker 11 11 - - 4 4

John Pennisi 11 11 - - 4 4
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(Back) Jason Mahlberg, David King, Larry Hore, 
(Front) Martin Norman, Barry Holden, David Stevens and Len McDougall



Barry Holden
Chief Executive Officer

> Barry was appointed Chief Executive
Officer on 14 March 2002 after
working as the Regional Manager of
Stirling Harbour Services in Western
Australia for four years.

Before moving to Western Australia,
Barry fulfilled the role of Acting Manager
with Department of Premier and Cabinet
in Townsville.

He was previously employed by the
Authority in various managerial and
administrative positions over a 24 year
period.

He is a member of the Australian
Society of Certified Practising
Accountants and the Chartered Institute
of Transport, and has professional
qualifications in Commerce and
specialist shipping/transport fields.

Martin Norman  
Manager – Major Projects

> Martin joined the Authority in 1998
and brought a wealth of experience
in financial, commercial and general
management.

This background gave him the
necessary skills to take up several
different positions within the
organisation, including Acting Chief
Executive Officer and Commercial
Business Unit Manager.

In his present capacity, he is involved in
developing commercial projects,
business development, corporate affairs
and information technology.

Martin has a Bachelor of Commerce, is
a chartered accountant and member of
CPA Australia.

Jason Mahlberg
Manager – Construction

> Jason joined the Authority four years
ago, bringing considerable
construction experience and skills to
the engineering department.

He previously worked on sites along the
eastern seaboard and spent two years in
Papua New Guinea working on the town
of Rabaul re-development.

In this role, Jason worked with an
engineering team to relocate the town
destroyed by a volcanic explosion and
construct a new airport.

Jason’s main area of expertise is marine
and land-based construction, and he has
a Bachelor of Engineering.

Len McDougall  
Manager – Finance

> Len heads the finance team and is
responsible for all financial and
accounting functions of the
Authority.

His extensive industry experience in both
fields, coupled with his diligent approach
to work, sees Len well-placed to
oversee and manage this vitally
important area.

Since joining the Authority in 1996, Len
held two other administrative and
accounting positions before being
promoted to his current role as manager.

He has a Bachelor of Business and is
also a member of CPA Australia.

David Stevens  
Manager – Maintenance

> David only joined the Authority in
March 2003, but has already been
involved in several projects including
the Berth 3 demolition and spill plate
and fender upgrades.

He is responsible for ensuring the
Authority’s facilities, assets and
infrastructure are maintained to a level
that meets or exceeds the expectations
of our customers and other
stakeholders.

David has a Bachelor of Mechanical
Engineering (Hons), a Graduate
Certificate of Maintenance Management
and is currently completing a Masters of
Business Administration.

He is a member of the Institute of
Engineers Australia and Maintenance
Engineering Society of Australia.

Larry Hore
Manager – Engineering and Environment

> After spending five years working on
telephone exchanges and repeater
stations in Papua New Guinea,
Larry joined the Authority in 1996.

Initially working as an electrical engineer,
Larry brought considerable experience
gained through the overseas stint and
previous time with the then Civil Aviation
Authority.

Over the following two years he also
worked as a Senior Engineer and
Maintenance Manager at the Authority
before being appointed to his current
position in 1998.

He has a Bachelor of Engineering, a
Master of Business Administration and is
a member of the Institute of Engineers.

David King  
Manager – Marine Services

> With more than 18 years experience
in the port industry, David has an
extensive knowledge of port
operations and procedures.

In his present role, he oversees the port
services team that is responsible for port
control, dangerous goods management
and security.

He holds qualifications as Master 
Class 5, Workplace Health and Safety
Officer in Construction and Manufacturing
and has undertaken university courses in
management and dangerous goods.
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>our people

employment and industrial
relations plan
The 2003/2004 Employment and
Industrial Relations Plan was drafted this
year, forming part of the Authority’s
Statement of Corporate Intent.

The plan was approved by the Board in
April after consultation with the
Department of Industrial Relations, the
Office of Public Service Merit and
Equity, the Australian Maritime Officers
Union and Maritime Union of Australia.

The Authority continues to promote
employee commitment and job
satisfaction through the provision of an
appropriate and stable organisational
structure. The Authority also has policies
and procedures for employee
consultation and communication, and for
the provision of adequate training and
development.

employee changes and
appointments
A new phase of employment stability
followed a period of industrial and
organisational change.

After reviewing the Authority’s structure,
some areas of improvement were
identified and changes to these areas
took place.

The total number of employees
decreased to 71, and some employees
left the organisation on their own accord
to pursue other career avenues.

Other changes include the creation of a
new Environmental Officer position, as
well as the employment of a Business
Development Officer and Public Affairs
Officer in expanded roles.

at a glance: employee changes

> During 2002/03 14 employees left
the Authority – of these six were
Marine Pilots who transferred back to
Queensland Transport, one employee
retired after twenty-two years service
and seven left the Authority

> The Authority now has 11
employees who have achieved 
15 years or more service

> The Authority this year gained seven
new employees in the environment,
drafting, engineering and business
development areas

The Authority is confident the current
employment numbers and occupational mix
is more than capable of planning and
administering future port expansion and
associated trade growth.

Engineering and environment team



redundancy provisions and
job security
The Authority now has a Redundancy
Policy that covers all employees.

A review of this policy saw new
provisions added that prevent the
immediate re-employment of former
employees who have recently received a
redundancy package. These provisions
are in accordance with recent
Government directives and also apply to
the re-engagement of former employees
on a consultancy basis.

The Authority remains committed to the
policy of no forced redundancies unless
approved by shareholding Ministers. 
No voluntary redundancies were offered
during 2002/2003, with no
redundancies envisaged in the
foreseeable future.

equal employment
opportunity and 
anti-discrimination
The Authority’s Equity Policy now
includes four sub-policies of Equal
Employment Opportunity, Inappropriate
Discrimination, Sexual Harassment and
Workplace Bullying.

These policies are included in the
induction training of all employees, and
are the subject of periodic awareness
briefings.

privacy
A Privacy Plan was developed following
advice from our shareholding Ministers.

It works in accordance with the
Queensland Government’s Information
Standard 42 – Information Privacy and the
Authority is currently updating all
documentation to comply with this.

negotiations
Two Enterprise Agreements negotiations
continued during 2002/2003, and it is
anticipated these Agreements will be
finalised during 2003/2004:

> Townsville Port Authority
Administrative, Technical,
Supervisory and Professional
Employees Enterprise Agreement
2003

> Townsville Port Authority Marine
Services Enterprise Agreement
2003

manual of human resource
management
We are finalising a Manual of Human
Resource Management, which will form
a major part of the induction of new
employees and be freely available to all
existing employees.

It will detail the policies and procedures
in operation at the Authority, including:

> Recruitment and Selection
Procedures

> Equity Policy comprising Equal
Employment Opportunity,
Inappropriate Discrimination, Sexual
Harassment and Workplace Bullying

> Code of Conduct

> Information Technology User Policy

> Drug and Alcohol Policy

> Information Privacy Principals

> Redundancy Policy

> Superannuation Benefits available to
employees through QSuper

> Corporate Uniform Policy

> Safety Management Plan
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Port services

Business development, finance, IT and admin employees

The Authority continues to promote employee commitment
and job satisfaction through the provision of an appropriate
and stable organisational structure.
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Manager Major Projects
M Norman 4781 1550

mnorman@townsville-port.com.au

Manager Finance
L McDougall 4781 1531

lmcdougall@townsville-port.com.au

Manager 
Commercial Projects

To be appointed

Manager Engineering
& Environment

L. Hore 4781 1602
lhore@townsville-port.com.au

Executive Secretary Eng
G Sharp 4781 1603

gsharp@townsville-port.com.au

Admin Officer Eng
K Miels 4781 1600

kmiels@townsville-port.com.au

Senior
Environmental Officer

To be appointed

Environmental Officer
M Louden 4781 1619

mlouden@townsville-port.com.au

Quality & Safety Officer
Y Searle 4781 1607

ysearle@townsville-port.com.au

IT Projects Officer
G Payne 4781 1660

gpayne@townsville-port.com.au

Info System Support
C Lynch 4781 1666

clynch@townsville-port.com.au

IT Applications Officer
A Cox 4781 1661

acox@townsville-port.com.au

Financial Accountant
K Jorgensen 4781 1536

kjorgensen@townsville-port.com.au

Accounts Payable Clerk
K Constantine 4781 1523

kconstantine@townsville-port.com.au

Stats & Revenue Officer
S Norris 4781 1539

snorris@townsville-port.com.au

Commercial Clerk
G Macdonald 4781 1543

gmacdonald@townsville-port.com.au

HR and Payroll Officer
S Martin 4781 1542

smartin@townsville-port.com.au

Manager Marine Services
D King 4781 1680

dking@townsville-port.com.au

Port Services Officers
I Alexander

J Sharp
W Culleton

S Cluff
R Webber – Ext 639

D Hay
G Feil

B Harrington
R Bainbridge
N Robinson

M Evans
P Smith
C Jones
L Mayes

Manager – Maintenance
D Stevens – 4781 1606

dstevens@townsville-port.com.au

Contract Supervisor
R Markham – 4781 1615

rmarkham@townsville-port.com.au

Purchasing Officer
J Kouwenhoven – 4781 1631

jkouwenhoven@townsville-port.com.au

Storeperson
M Lun – 4781 1630

mlun@townsville-port.com.au

Hydrographic Surveyor
M Fitzpatrick – 4781 1616

mfitzpatrick@townsville-port.com.au

Engineering Supervisor
T Paroz – 4781 1614

tparoz@townsville-port.com.au

Manager – Construction
J Mahlberg – 4781 1604

jmahlberg@townsville-port.com.au

Project Engineer
C Martin – 4781 1605

cmartin@townsville-port.com.au

Project Engineer
U Arambawela – 4781 1612

uarambawela@townsville-port.com.au

Drafting Officer
D McDonald – 4781 1608

dmcdoanld@townsville-port.com.au

Cadet Drafting Officer
G Hardy – 4781 1609

ghardy@townsville-port.com.au

Chief Executive Officer
B Holden – 4781 1512

bholden@townsville-port.com.au

Executive Secretary
A Peters – 4781 1512

apeters@townsville-port.com.au

>our structure
Leading Hand

W Connell

Tradepersons
L Bryant S Russell L Ditton
A Seib S Ingham W Walsh
E Newman S Ralph K Sims

Operator/Labourers
J Aitkenhead B Arthur R Beasley D Ditton
R Burgess A Browne C Metcalfe M Miller
R Morris A Butteriss A Timor

Bus Development Officer
F Gedling 4781 1552

fgedling@townsville-port.com.au

Corporate Services Officer
R Crosby 4781 1521

rcrosby@townsville-port.com.au

Public Affairs Officer
L Pennisi 4781 1551

lpennisi@townsville-port.com.au

Administration Officer
D Baker 4781 1537

dbaker@townsville-port.com.au

Administration Officer
M Walker 4781 1517

mwalker@townsville-port.com.au

Receptionist
N Pappalardo 4181 1500

npappalardo@townsville-port.com.au



major capital works projects
More than $2.8 million went towards
services, plant upgrades, completing the
fender upgrade of Berths 2 and 3 and
other works.

at a glance: completed service-
related projects with total value:

> Water and service distributions to
Berths 2, 3 and 4 ($290,000)

> The fire system upgrade to Berth 1
($50,000)

> Installation of a fire main to Berths 
2 and 3 ($120,000)

> Construction of a new service
corridor to Berths 8 and 9
($163,000)

> Impressed current upgrades at
Berths 8 and 9 ($297,000)

Substantial effort was also given to
upgrading and modifying the Authority’s
plant to meet the changing needs of the
work environment.

significant assets acquired:

> Purchase of a new mobile crane
($225,000)

> Re-engining of the pilot vessel 
Petrel II ($120,000)

> Hydraulic crane for work boat 
Alan Ticehurst ($35,000)

> Works to the Authority’s seabed
levelling equipment including a new
pusher pad, fully remote system for
operation and a new beam
($29,500)

20

Some major projects took shape this year under the port’s $5.8 million dollar
capital works program.

>engineering



pump ashore system
The most notable project was the
modification of the split hopper barge
Eric Netterfield, enabling dredge spoil to
be pumped from this barge as an option
to the single previously available disposal
system known as bottom dumping.

Increasing environmental control –
coupled with the need to adequately
contain potentially contaminated dredge
spoil material – drove the need to
convert the bottom dumping barge to a
pump ashore system whereby material
can be appropriately dealt with.

With a budget in excess of $1 million,
this project will see the purchase of a
crane and pump mounted on the barge
with a pipeline and additional booster
pump to convey the material to the
Authority’s reclamation area.

fender system upgrades
The three-year, $1.25 million project to
upgrade the fender system on Berths 2
and 3 was completed as planned.

Providing an improved and more
maintenance-friendly fender system to
the aging timber system previously
installed, these works were undertaken
entirely by the Authority’s workforce in
the restrictive environment between
shipping operations.

The most notable project excluded from
the budget was the $1.29 million civil
works to increase the capacity of the
reclamation ponds at the port.
Uncertainties about timing and future
development in this land meant these
works were postponed to next 
financial year.

dredging and concrete
repairs
Approximately 99 per cent of the
$8.872 million maintenance budget was
spent and final program implemented
over 2002/03, with dredging and
concrete repairs among the highest
priorities on this year’s agenda.

This is the sixth consecutive year where
greater than 90 per cent of planned
projects have been completed.

Among the success stories was the
dredging of the Inner Harbour berth
pockets, an area identified as containing
contaminants unsuitable for the normal
unconfined sea disposal practise.

After an extensive sampling and testing
program, it was determined the material
would be pumped to land for
containment in accordance with strict
environmental criteria.

Success was reached with no 
non-conformances recorded over the
duration of the works. This project has
contributed to the establishment of the
platform for a return to normal dredging
practices to be implemented again in the
Inner Harbour.

In excess of $1.5 million in dredging
costs for this project were spent this
year, with a further $1 million earmarked
for stabilisation and placement of
onshore material in the coming year.

Ongoing concrete repairs also remained
a focus for the port, with total
expenditure for the 2002/03 financial
year coming in at approximately 
$2.2 million (comparing favourably to the
$2.4 million spent the previous year).

These concrete repair works involved
repairing the quay line on Berth 9, the
second expansion joint on Berth 9 and
the completion of retaining wall repairs.

Repairs involved removal of unsound
concrete using high pressure water
blasting, reinstatement of rusted
reinforcing and gunite spraying of a high
strength concrete mix.

A new scope of work was developed
this year after the presence of alkali
aggregate reaction was confirmed in 
the 194 reinforced concrete and
prestressed piles on Berth 1. The extent
of the repair work required to reinstate
this asset to "as constructed" strengths
is considerable and prompted the
Authority to reconsider its options with
this asset.

For the coming year another 
$2.7 million is committed to maintenance
of concrete structures; $824,000
allocated to the repair of the soffit and
piles on Berth 8 and 9; and, $1.8 million
being budgeted for undertaking pile
encapsulation on Berth 1.

berth 3 demolition
The demolition of the Berth 3 timber
wharf, constructed in the 1890s and used
as formwork for the current concrete
wharf, has been a challenging project.

Although tenders were called in the
2001/02 financial year, the lowest
practical tenders received were well over
the $1.5 million mark, prompting the
Authority to become licensed
demolishers and proceed with employing
a contract labour workforce to undertake
the works.

A total of $920,000 was consumed by
the demolition project – including the
complete removal of all piles and timbers
suspended under the wharf – which was
offset by selling these timbers to
recyclers in Brisbane.

A further $165,000 was allocated for
the remaining demolition works under
Berth 3 and associated clean up
activities, which will incorporate the
removal of the concrete blinding layer
that remained suspended under the
wharf in some areas and the extraction
of timbers that had sunk into the mud.
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environmental park
A vegetative buffer zone between the
Townsville Port and neighbouring
residential communities has been on the
drawing board since November 2000.

The vision was finally realised this year
with the establishment of stage one,
which centred on a strong coastal theme
and included mostly local native coastal
plant species.

With a budget of $800,000, it involved
planting and landscaping of Benwell
Road and Boundary Street, a large area
around the perimeter of the old
phosphate rail loop and a small corridor
adjacent to Harbourside Coldstores.

The coastal theme is also set to
continue along Archer Street, providing
a screen between residents and the new
third sugar shed.

sea dump permit
An Inner Harbour clean-up was
instigated following a detailed
contamination study within the area
during the 2001/02 financial year.

After the Authority assessed which
areas of sediments in the Inner Harbour
were able to be disposed at sea,
Environment Australia approved a Sea
Dump Permit.

The permit covered areas of the Inner
Harbour – including the silt trenches,
Berths 9 and 10 and the swing basin –
and resulted in approximately 70 per cent
of Inner Harbour sediment eligible for
sea disposal. Unfortunately, due to
timing and availability of equipment, the
physical work for this project is yet to 
be undertaken.

An environmental risk assessment applied
by the Authority to the Inner Harbour
Clean-Up Campaign determined the land
disposal component of the dredging must
be undertaken first to prevent
contamination of the cleaner areas.

This dredging and land disposal of
material from Berths 1, 2, 3, 4 - 6 and 
7 - 8 was undertaken in early 2003, 
with all material disposed into a specially
designed settling pond within the
Eastern Reclamation Area.

As a precautionary measure, the
Authority developed a series of
monitoring programs to assess the
impact of the disposal of the spoil on
environmental quality.

This included water quality monitoring
stations and groundwater monitoring
stations established to determine
whether any heavy metal contamination
was leaching into the receiving
environment.

Results of these monitoring programs
are currently under review.
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Environmental management is a top priority for the Townsville Port, with
particular attention given to ensuring all activities are undertaken in
accordance with environmental legislation, guidelines and standards.

>environment



sewage treatment plant
The Authority is currently devoping a 
Policy for the Discharge of Trade Waste
to Sewer.

The move will ensure the Authority’s
package sewage system – which
receives trade waste from most port
users – is not damaged by chemicals
detrimental to the plant operation.

The policy outlines standards and limits
for the discharge of trade waste to
sewer, and contains provisions for
monitoring of trade wastes.

It also includes penalties for breaches,
allowing the Authority to recoup costs if
the plant fails and additional treatment
measures are required.

It is anticipated the policy will improve
the sewage treatment plant operation
and further ensure the plant meets
licence conditions set by the
Environmental Protection Agency.

australian ballast water
treatment consortium
Townsville Port has joined forces with
the Australian Ballast Water Treatment
Consortium (ABWTC) to address the
treatment of ships’ ballast water.

Ballast water has the potential to
translocate harmful marine organisms
that can then be introduced to a
destination port, often resulting in large
economic and environmental impacts.

The ABWTC received funding from
Environment Australia’s Natural Heritage
Trust and is now in the process of
developing a pilot plant designed to treat
ballast water and kill any organisms in
the water.

The plant is designed to be small
enough to fit on a commercial vessel
and is being marketed to be fitted to
new vessels during construction.

It is anticipated a pilot plant will be
constructed within the near future, with
trials undertaken to determine the likely
success of the plant.

environmental 
management plan
Environmental management is a top
priority for the Townsville Port, with
particular attention given to ensuring all
activities are undertaken in accordance
with environmental legislation, guidelines
and standards.

In an effort to provide a more structured
and workable system of environmental
management, the port developed and
implemented an Environmental
Management Plan (EMP) to manage its
own activities.

In order to identify those activities that
potentially impact on the environment a
risk assessment was undertaken and, as
a result, procedures were developed to
ensure any significant aspects were
appropriately managed.

The EMP outlines environmental
management goals, objectives and
targets and includes a number of key
performance indicators that must be met.

Although it is static document, it will be
reviewed annually to ensure all goals
and objectives remain focused with the
Authority’s activities. New performance
indicators will be developed during the
review to ensure continual improvement
in environmental performance.

The EMP is part of a larger process that
will see a more detailed whole-of-port
environmental risk assessment followed
by the development of a structured
environmental management system for
activities, which will be expanded to
include the entire port community.

The Authority is vigorously pursuing the
development of an ISO 14001 type
system for the coming year.

The Authority keeps a close eye on environmental
incidents – an event that warrants a response of

any form due to the capability of the event to
result in a potential or real identified risk.
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sediment monitoring
Since May 1995 the port implemented a
long-term sediment monitoring program.

It aims to monitor the effects of port
activities on the environment and
determine, prior to sediment removal,
environmentally sound dredge material
disposal methods.

Under the program, heavy metal
concentrations are analysed quarterly from
over 240 sites including the Inner Harbour,
Outer Harbour, Ross Creek, Ross River,
Platypus Channel and the Sea Channel.

An intrinsic property of the program is
the temporally and spatially replicated
assessment of impacts on the
surrounding marine environment.

This allows the port to identify trends
over time and also provides the means
for a polluter-pays system for dredge
material disposal.

This graph shows the changes in the
concentrations (mg/kg) of nickel, lead
and zinc in the sediments of the Inner
Harbour.

Nickel and lead recorded the lowest
concentrations during 2000/2001, while
the lowest concentration of zinc was
recorded during 2001/2002.

Although these trends are promising,
recent concentrations have increased to
pre-2000 levels for many metals.

Further investigations are currently being
undertaken to determine the cause of
this apparent increase and how it can be
managed.

dust monitoring
Dust monitoring is another of several
environmental monitoring programs
regularly undertaken by the Authority.

It focuses on dust particles less than 
10 micrometres in size, known as PM10

particulate matter, which is recognised
as having the potential to harm human
heath.

The program – run in conjunction with
the Environmental Protection Agency
and other port users including QNI, 
BHP Billton, Xstrata Copper Australia,
and WMC Fertilizers – was developed to
identify dust events that could potentially
have a negative impact on the
environment or nearby residents.

Data is remotely recorded every half
hour by the monitoring unit located to
the west of the majority of port activities
(Berth 10).

As predominant wind direction is from
the north east, the monitoring unit
should detect dust produced in or
passing through the port enabling
identification of potential problems and
assisting in detection of sources of dust.

Appropriate steps can be taken to reduce
or remove this impact if it is determined
that activities may affect human health or
have a negative impact on the environment.

Chart A shows wind speed and direction
for July 2002- April 2003, measured by
the dust monitoring unit at the sea end of
Berth 10. The highest wind speed 
(4-5 ms-1) was recorded from an easterly
through to a north easterly direction.

This was also the dominant wind direction
during this period with the wind blowing
from a north easterly direction or easterly
direction 55 per cent of the time.

Wind came from the north approximately
15 per cent of the time, the west
approximately 1 per cent of the time and
south approximately 25 per cent.

Chart B shows the direction of dust origin
and concentration of dust particles at the
port for July 2002 – April 2003. It shows
dust concentrations greater than
39µg/m3, were recorded from the
northeast through to the south. These
higher levels may be the result of activities
other than port activities (for example fuel
and building emissions from the city).
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environmental incidents
The Authority keeps a close eye on
environmental incidents – an event that
warrants a response of any form due to
the capability of the event to result in a
potential or real identified risk.

Any such incidents that occur within the
port’s jurisdiction are recorded in a
comprehensive environmental incidents
database, which is periodically reviewed
for trends or patterns that may indicate
the need to initiate new environmental
management procedures.

This graph shows the total number of
environmental incidents recorded each
year. As practices improve and
environmental awareness increases, the
number of incidents recorded each year
decreases.

This graph illustrates the break down of the
environmental incidents for the 2002/2003
period, divided into the general areas of
vibration, oil spills, spill/discharge
(encompassing all non oil based spills on
land or water) and other (which includes
a faunal incident and a dust incident).

Oil spills were the most common
incident recorded during this period with
13 incidents recorded of which 8
occurred within Ross Creek as a result
of the small boat facilities located within
that area. The majority of oil spills were
small light fuel resulting from spilled fuel
or bilge water pump-out.

noise
Trains, trucks and heavy machinery,
increased light traffic, construction
activities and general port operations all
have potential to generate noise.

The port’s Noise Monitoring Program,
which began in 2001, is primarily used
to monitor if port-related noise exceeds
legislative limits.

Monitoring records the average noise
(LAeq) over a 15 minute period for both
the weekday and weekend periods during
the day, evening and night at each site.

It also monitors the effectiveness of noise
management initiatives, the impacts of
new developments, and assists in noise
management decision making.

Monitoring is undertaken twice a year at
24 sites divided into four categories:
port area, transport route, residential
area, and commercial/residential area
(using a combination of the demography
of the immediate area and the origin of
the dominant noise at the site).

These categories are used to
differentiate between various land uses
and determine the impact of port noise
upon the acoustic environment and the
surrounding community.

This graph shows noise data from the
November 2002 sampling period. EPA
conditions allow for roads to have a daily
average noise level of 63dB, railways to
have a daily average noise level of 65dB
and residential areas to have a daily
average noise level of 55dB.

The graph indicates all areas were within
licence conditions for both the week and
weekend periods. If an area of concern
is detected by this regular noise
monitoring program, steps can then be
taken to provide a long term solution
and further monitoring will ensure this
problem is appropriately addressed.
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Exotic insects that pose a serious threat to Australia’s livestock industry also
come under the Authority’s microscope.

This work is undertaken by the Authority for the Australian Quarantine
Inspection Service.

Although Chrysomya bezziana (known as screw-worm fly) is yet to occur in
Australia, it’s insidious nature has prompted the Queensland Department of
Primary Industries to encourage extra vigilance.

The larvae of this blowfly invade wounds on live warm-blooded animals, feed
and burrow into the living tissue causing extensive damage and render the
animals susceptible to secondary infection or death.

Given the port’s burgeoning live cattle trade, monitoring commenced in 1999
by way of three sticky traps and a synthetic lure to attract adult flies
positioned near berths used for live cattle transport.

These traps are collected fortnightly during the wet season and monthly
during the dry season then analysed by the Department of Primary Industries
for the presence of C. bezziana.

Fortunately no C. bezziana have been found – it has been suggested an annual
economic loss of $65 to $155 million to the sheep and cattle industries could
result if C. bezziana gained entry to Australia and was allowed to spread.



at a glance: achievements

> Land Tenure Rationalisation 
Program, including the conversion of
approximately 94.1208 hectares of
strategic reserve and vested land to
freehold title and perpetual 
lease tenure

> New occupation of over 12 hectares
of strategic port land, and
completion of tenancy arrangements
with a number of port customers
and other bodies

> Completion of land tenure
arrangements, leasing arrangements
and development assessment with
Sugar Terminals Limited and
Queensland Sugar Limited for the
new 400,000 tonne capacity third
bulk sugar shed at the Port of
Townsville

> Acquisition of an additional 818sqm
of land along Sir Leslie Thiess Drive
to facilitate future port development

> Designation of land along the
proposed route of the Townsville
Port Eastern Access Corridor as
land for community infrastructure
under the Integrated Planning Act 1997
by the Minister for State
Development

objectives

> Complete the first round of audits
under the lease audit program under
the Tenancy Risk Management and
Compliance Strategy, and on-going
random audits of lease sites to
minimise risks and reduce any
exposure to liability

> Acquisition of remaining lands along
Sir Leslie Thiess Drive to facilitate
future port developments

> Obtain Ministerial approval and
finalise production of the Authority’s
new Land Use Plan

> Approval of new Port Development
Plan and Integrated Development
Assessment System (IDAS) Policies
to ensure cohesive land use
planning so that future development
of port land achieves highest
economic return, whilst at the same
time adhering to legislative, business
and social requirements

>business development
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Over the past two years, 
the Authority has undertaken 
a re-appraisal of its approach

to land use planning.



townsvi l le por t  author i t y annual  repor t  2002/2003 27

land tenure rationalisation
Our Land Tenure Rationalisation
Program made significant progress
during the 2002/03 year.

We completed the conversion of
approximately 87 hectares of strategic
reserve land to freehold title, 7.3
hectares of strategic vested land to
freehold title, and 3.7 hectares of
strategic vested land to perpetual 
lease tenure.

This included land situated in the port’s
operational area critical to the long-term
integrity of port operations, and also
strategic lands located in the Ross River
area. The Authority also finalised the
surrender of several non-strategic lands
to the State for further dealing.

We expect to secure freehold title to the
last remaining area of strategic port land
in the second half of 2003, with this set
to ensure the integrity of strategic port
lands for future developments.

planning for land use
Over the past two years, the Authority
has undertaken a re-appraisal of its
approach to land use planning.

In addition to discharging its role in
managing lands used in port-related
heavy industry, the Authority has sought
to find the highest economic use for
each precinct within its boundaries.

The Authority is now working closely with
the Townsville City Council to ensure our
development intentions are compatible
with the city’s planning views.

In the next 12 months, we anticipate a
new Port Development Plan and IDAS
Policies will be approved to ensure
cohesive land use planning so future
development of port lands achieves
highest economic return in accordance
with legislative, business and social
requirements.

land occupation & tenancies
A large number of tenancy arrangements
were finalised during the last 12 months,
including the new occupation of
approximately 12.8 hectares of strategic
port land.

The largest new leasing arrangement
was with Sugar Terminals Limited for the
new sugar storage facility, which
occupies over 9.2 hectares of land.

new business
Australian Marshalling Services (AMS) is
the port’s newest major customer after
harvesting extensive Cardwell-area
plantations of Pinus Carribea.

AMS commenced occupation of 
3 hectares of port land in May 2003 to
store timber logs that will be exported
through the Townsville Port.

The company anticipate an export
quantity of 130,000 tonnes per year,
with the first shipment of logs to be
exported in July 2003.

third sugar shed project
The establishment of a 400,000 tonne
capacity bulk sugar storage shed is well
underway.

The lease of approximately 9.2 hectares
for the new storage shed commenced in
December 2002. Development
assessment for the third sugar shed under
the Integrated Planning Act 1997 was
completed in the second half of 2002,
and construction is nearing completion.

Additional land tenure arrangements to
enable new leases for the existing sugar
sheds to be executed are expected to
be finalised in the second half of 2003.

This in turn will result in a significant
area of land along Ross Street to be
returned to the Authority for future
development as part of the Townsville
Waterways Project.

port access corridor
In June 2003 the Minister for State
Development designated land along the
proposed route of the Townsville Port
Eastern Access Corridor as land for
community infrastructure under the
Integrated Planning Act 1997. The
designation brings the corridor
development a step closer to fruition.

ocean terminal
A Cost Benefit Study carried out by the
Authority in late 2001 showed very
significant nett regional and national
benefits would flow from a cruise ship
terminal at Townsville.

Following the Study, the Authority
undertook further research into the
feasibility of establishing facilities at a
site on the port’s Western Breakwater.

In conjunction with the Townsville City
Council and the Townsville CBD
Taskforce, the Authority investigated the
prospect of additional land reclamation
adjacent to the Terminal site to provide a
new city precinct.

Queensland State Development is now
playing a significant role in leading
research into this expanded project.
Studies to date have canvassed
engineering, ship handling and market
testing aspects.



The team includes 15 permanent staff and
four casuals responsible for everything
from port control to security, small boat
harbours and emergency management.

All marine services staff are Authorised
Officers under the Transport Infrastructure
Act 1994 and Transport Infrastructure (Ports)
Regulation 1994, with some also
authorised under certain sections of the
Transport Operations (Marine Pollution) Act
1995. This provides officers with the
authority to monitor compliance with port
notices and pollution regulations.

pilotage
Responsibility for pilotage services this
year transferred from Port Authorities
back to Queensland Transport.

It followed a review of pilotage services
in Queensland by the State Government,
who transferred the responsibility and
established a new agency called
Maritime Safety Queensland.

In October 2002, six marine pilots
employed by the Authority to service the
shipping industry transferred to the 
new agency. The Authority retained the
pilot transfer operation and is contracted
to Maritime Safety Queensland to
provide a pilot transfer service.

implementing the
international ship and port
security code
Port security will come into the spotlight
as part of a nation-wide initiative to
boost security in all Australian ports.

The International Maritime Organisation’s
new ship and port security code follows
recent airport security upgrades and is
required to be implemented by July 2004.

The Authority has established a port
security committee, and later appointed
Worley to complete the work necessary
to comply with the new code.

Worley is well advanced with this work,
having already completed the risk
assessment process and currently
collecting the essential data to form the
basis of the port security plan.

The plan’s first draft is set to be available
for comment by the Authority and the port
security committee mid-August 2003.

integrating all 
administration functions
Implementing an appropriate computer
system and web-based system for berth
applications and manifests was an
important goal for the Authority.

Many hours of work culminated with the
development, and current testing, of a
web-based shipping schedule and online
booking service.

Throughout the development phase, 
the Authority ensured port users were
consulted and kept informed of the
system’s progress to ensure any
feedback was taken on board.

The service, expected to go live in
November 2003, will provide our
customers with access to real time
shipping information and the ability to
submit berth applications over the internet.

looking ahead
The coming months and year will see
security assessment and awareness
become an ever-increasing focus in the
Marine Services sphere.

During this period, the port will continue to
work with the Federal Department of
Transport and Regional Services to ensure
full compliance with the International Ship
and Port Security Code by 1 July 2004.

Marine Services aim to implement all
recommendations from the security risk
assessment to further enhance security
in the port and provide confidence in
shipping industry when utilising the port’s
infrastructure to carry out business.

It is envisaged at the end of this process,
a security culture will be established
within the port community through the
development and implementation of
programs designed to raise awareness of
security issues, and the establishment of
clear communication channels to ensure
security incidents or unusual activities 
are reported.
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Marine Services operate round the clock every day
of the year and play an integral role in all outside
operations taking place at the Townsville Port.

>marine services



upgrades
The existing file server’s operating
system was upgraded this financial year
as part of our commitment to keeping
abreast with the latest technology.

In keeping with this philosophy, all
desktop computers were upgraded to
ensure employees had access to the
latest application packages and the
financial system was upgraded.

Under our ongoing commitment to
expanding the functionality of the
website, the first stage of our web-
based shipping was launched and
allowed the port community to view the
port’s shipping movements.

It is envisaged in the future port users
will also be able to electronically submit
berthing applications, manifests and
dangerous goods applications.

geographical information
system
Groundwork for the installation of a
Geographical Information System is
underway.

As such, we have adopted data
standards for objects represented within
the database and Australian Map Grid
co-ordinates as a reference basis.

Work is also progressing on verification
of existing drawing data, prior to
constructing a system prototype.

international computer
driving licence (ICDL)
The Authority is currently on the road to
improving our employees’ computer
literacy and ability.

We are looking to become an ICDL
accredited test centre, which will allow
us to run a training program that will
help our employees become as familiar
with "driving" a computer as they are
with driving a motor vehicle.

>commercial projects/information
technology
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The Commercial Projects and Information
Technology department is responsible for
evaluating and managing how information
technology products are used for our
commercial projects.



workplace health and 
safety policy
The Board and Management of the
Townsville Port Authority are committed
to providing a safe port and to the
prevention of all workplace injuries 
and illnesses.

The Authority has concern for the well
being of all employees and this concern
extends to all persons on port land and
in the adjoining community.

It is our intention to manage our
activities with regard for our employees,
contractors, port users and visitors.

In particular we will:

> provide a safe working environment

> foster mutual respect between all
employees and management

> continuously improve our safety
management by setting measurable
objectives and targets

> ensure all employees receive
adequate training to assist them
with working safely

> promote our Safety Management
Plan to all employees, contractors
and port users

> ensure all workers are aware of their
obligations and comply with relevant
legislation

> respond to and investigate all
accidents and incidents

> encourage employees to actively
contribute to improving safety within
the port

> provide adequate and appropriate
resources

The Authority will encourage all
individuals and port users to recognise
their mutual obligations and to embrace
the intentions of the Safety
Management Plan to create and sustain
a safe working environment.

Through this commitment to our
employees, contractors and port users
we will endeavour to maintain a 
"Safe Port".

safety management plan
A Safety Management Plan was
introduced this year, resulting in the
formation of a Port Safety Group.

All Port Users are invited to attend, 
with feedback to users given via the
Port Advisory Body.
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The Authority is committed to providing a safe port
and preventing workplace injuries and illnesses.

>safety



drug and alcohol policy
A drug and alcohol policy was put on the
drawing board this year as part of the
port’s duty of care to employees,
contractors and others in the port.

The decision follows the adoption of
similar polices by other port users over
the last two years.

After the policy was proposed, the port
held information workshops for
employees and worked closely with the
union delegates to ensure everyone
understood why and how the policy
would be implemented.

Further refinement of the policy is
required before the port enters the final
consultation phase, introduces the policy
and commences random testing.

safe walkways and safety
inductions
Among the other achievements were
identifying designated safe walkways,
which will provide safe access and
egress for ships’ crew, agents and other
visitors to the port.

Work has commenced and a number of
the walkways are already established
throughout the port.

Additionally, 127 general port inductions
were provided by the Authority this year,
and maintenance employees completed
Occupational Health and Safety at Sea
training to ensure the Authority
continues to meet our safety
requirements.

looking ahead
The Authority will focus on a number of
areas during the coming year, including:

> implementing the Drug and Alcohol
Policy

> updating the safety induction video
and a review of our induction
process

> further refinement of the Safety
Management Plan to meet AS4801

> attain external certification and the
introduction of Job Safety Analysis
for all maintenance tasks

As always, the Authority is committed to
providing the necessary training to
ensure a safe work place.

statistics

> lost time injuries
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 41.49

Average Lost Time Rate 12.9 days

Incidence Rate 19.91

> recorded incidents over
previous five periods

2002/03 15

2001/02 14

2000/01 13

1999/00 7

1998/99 12

> incident accident statistics
Number of employees 
(excluding temporary) 71

Number of hours worked 120,503

Number of lost time 5
injury incidents

Number of other injury incidents 7

Number of contractor 6
incidents reported

Number of near miss/dangerous 3
events reported

Total number incidents reported 21

workcover claims
Workcover claims increased from five
last year to nine this year.

This included five lost time injury claims
and three medical expenses only claims.

One claim was denied, however this
decision is being appealed.

Average claim cost and duration
increased marginally from last year, with
two claims of a more serious nature
requiring specialist medical attention. 
All employees resumed their positions
on unrestricted duties.

> workcover claims
Number of Claims made this period 9

Number of Workcover claims accepted 8

Claims incurring lost time and medical
expenses 5

Medical expenses only claims 3

rehabilitation
Two cases required short-term
management on return to work, however
comprehensive rehabilitation programs
were not necessary.
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celebrating 100 years
Yarns and tall stories were in plentiful
supply when past and present port
workers gathered in May to
commemorate the Townsville Port’s key
role in the city’s first 100 years.

Held at the Townsville Maritime
Museum, the informal morning tea was
the first in a nine-part Townsville Yarns
series taking place during this year’s
centenary city celebrations.

As a major sponsor of the calendar 
year-long celebrations, the Authority was
also involved other celebratory events
including the Centenary City Sky Show
fireworks spectacular expected to attract
more than 80,000 spectators when
staged in September 2003.

reaching our audience
Internal and external publications play an
integral part in how we communicate
information to our employees and the
wider community.

Our monthly employee newsletter aims
to build cohesion and idea-sharing
amongst our employees who, often
because of the nature or location of
their job, do not interact face-to-face.

Our external website and quarterly
external newsletter form the basis of our
interaction with our outside audiences,
including everyone from port users to
the general public.

complaints database
Townsville Port Authority aims to ensure
any complaints received are correctly
logged and investigated.

Six formal complaints were registered
this year comprising:

Dust, noise, vehicles 3

Other 3

Four complaints were addressed and
resolved.

2002 charity golf day
The 2002 charity golf day attracted over
130 players and again gave another local
charity a much needed helping hand.

More than $9,500 was raised for the
Australian Red Cross, with the money
set to help establish the group’s
Townsville accommodation centre.

Since the annual event began in 1996,
more than $54,000 has been donated
to a host of local charities.
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The Authority has
played a key role in the

year-long centenary
city celebrations.

>public affairs
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>trade statistics
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Percentage Increase

Harbour Dues Increase vs CPI Increase 1996/97 to 2002/03
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General > 2.69%

Oil > 16.39%

Fertilizer > 1.88%

Nickel Ore > 67.52%
Zinc Concentrate > 4.58%

Sulphur > 1.70%

Cement > 5.24%

Imports through the Port of Townsville
2002/03 (Total Imports 5,499,970 tonnes)

General > 3.47%

Sulphuric Acid > 0.55%

Meat Products > 1.22%

Minerals > 39.37%

Molasses > 5.08%
Cattle > 1.91%

High Analysis Fertilizer > 19.

Sugar > 29.09%

Exports through the Port of Townsville
2002/03 (Total Exports 4,318,733 tonnes)

Sulphuric Acid > 0.46%

Oil > 9.18%
Fertilizer > 9.54%

Motor Vehicles > 0.15%

Nickel Ore > 37.82%

Cement > 2.94%

Meat Products > 0.54%

Minerals > 19.88%

Molasses > 2.24%

Cattle > 0.84%
Sugar > 12.79%

Sulphur > 0.95%

Total Trade by Commodity
2002/03 (Total Trade 9,818,703 tonnes)

Bunker > 6%

Naval > 4%

Bulk Carrier > 36%

Tanker > 13%

General Cargo > 21%

Other > 2%

Refrigerated Cargo > 2%

Vehicle Carrier > 6%

Livestock Carrier > 6%

Passenger > 1%

RORO Cargo > 3%

Vessel Calls 2002/03



Imports byCountry
2002/03 (Total Imports 5,499,970 tonnes)

Intrastate > 11.07%

Interstate > 6.68%

Singapore > 7.45%

New Caledonia > 41.01%

Philippines > 8.48%

Indonesia > 18.14%

Other > 7.16%

 16.95% > Australia

 2.10% > Bangladesh

 2.88% > Belgium

 1.95% > Canada
 1.79% > PNG

 0.93% > Saudia Arabia
 7.24% > China

 5.74% > Taiwan

 5.54% > India
 1.21% > Indonesia

 0.87% > Italy

Japan > 15.18%

Pakistan > 2.02%

Philippines > 0.82%

Korea > 13.01%

Malaysia > 7.21%

Thailand > 0.98%

United Kingdom > 3.53%

United Arab Emirates > 1.24%

USA > 4.29%
Other > 4.51%

Exports by Country
2002/03 (Total Exports 4,318,733 tonnes)
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townsville port authority

annual financial report
year ended 30 june 2003

purpose and scope
The Townsville Port Authority is a Statutory Government Owned Corporation, constituted on 1 July 1995 under the provisions of
the Government Owned Corporations Act 1993 (GOC Act). Under the terms of Section 127 of the GOC Act, the Financial Administration
and Audit Act 1977 applies to the Authority as if it were a Statutory Body.

These Statements have been prepared -

(i) to satisfy the provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1977 and other prescribed requirements; and

(ii) to communicate information concerning the Authority's financial performance for the year and its financial position at year end
to a variety of information users including -

> its shareholding Ministers, the Honourable the Minister for Transport and Minister for Main Roads of Queensland and the
Honourable the Treasurer of Queensland

> users and potential users of the Port of Townsville

> the community in general

> other interested parties

The statements are general purpose in nature and provide a full presentation of all of the financial activities of the Authority.

38



townsville port authority note 2003 ($) 2002 ($)

statement of financial performance 
for the financial year ended 30 june 2003

REVENUES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
Revenue from Operating Activities

Service Revenue 2 25,453,413 24,978,063
Revenue from Non-Operating Activities

Interest received 189,056 179,862
Other Revenue 2 93,512 44,590

Total Revenue from Ordinary Activities 25,735,981 25,202,515

EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES EXCLUDING BORROWING COSTS
Employee Benefits Expense 4,032,299 4,699,135
Depreciation Expense 6,862,306 6,949,934
Other Expenses 2 13,853,617 11,261,903

Total Expenses from Ordinary Activities Excluding Borrowing Costs 24,748,222 22,910,972

Borrowing Costs Expense 1,224,038 1,135,530

PROFIT / (LOSS) FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE
INCOME TAX EXPENSE / (INCOME TAX REVENUE) (236,279) 1,156,013
Income Tax Revenue (Income Tax Expense) relating to Ordinary Activities 4 (584,796) (1,064,964)

PROFIT / (LOSS) FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER
INCOME TAX EXPENSE / (INCOME TAX REVENUE) 3 (821,075) 91,049

NET PROFIT / (LOSS) (821,075) 91,049

Increase / (Decrease) in Asset Revaluation Reserve 5 (900,000) 3,284,639

Total Revenues, Expenses and Valuation Adjustments 
Recognised Directly in Equity (900,000) 3,284,639

TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY OTHER THAN THOSE RESULTING
FROM TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS AS OWNERS 6 ($1,721,075) $3,375,688

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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townsville port authority note 2003 ($) 2002 ($)

statement of financial position
as at 30 june 2003

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash Assets 7 2,844,500 4,670,898
Receivables 8 2,939,718 2,952,636
Current Tax Asset 24,562 -
Other 9 132,832 85,673

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 5,941,612 7,709,207

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment 10 121,111,259 123,072,618
Deferred Tax Assets 407,792 473,741
Other 9 9,950 11,419

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 121,529,001 123,557,778

TOTAL ASSETS $127,470,613 $131,266,985

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 11 3,387,680 2,671,468
Interest-bearing Liabilities 12 1,926,219 1,840,337
Current Tax Liabilities - 15,401
Provisions 13 384,252 739,397

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,698,151 5,266,603

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 14 22,000 750,892
Interest-bearing Liabilities 12 17,731,659 19,656,601
Deferred Tax Liabilities 1,646,580 1,544,981
Provisions 13 454,891 409,501

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 19,855,130 22,361,975

TOTAL LIABILITIES $25,553,281 $27,628,578

NET ASSETS $101,917,332 $103,638,407

EQUITY
Contributed Equity 15 98,935,028 98,935,028
(Accumulated Losses) 3 (11,760,095) (10,971,220)
Reserves 5 14,742,399 15,674,599

TOTAL EQUITY $101,917,332 $103,638,407

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

40



townsville port authority note 2003 ($) 2002 ($)

statement of cash flows
for the financial year ended 30 june 2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers 24,830,951 25,219,126
Payments to suppliers and employees (17,500,326) (16,560,058)
GST collected from sales and services provided 2,620,293 2,541,068
GST paid in respect of acquisitions (1,632,170) (1,312,866)
GST paid to Australian Taxation Office (852,465) (1,105,783)
Interest received 189,056 179,862
Income Tax Equivalents Paid (457,211) (964,005)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES B $7,198,128 $7,997,344

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payment for property, plant and equipment (6,178,338) (5,036,101)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 216,909 98,744

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ($5,961,429) ($4,937,357)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loan Raisings - 23,000,000
Advance from Department of Defence - -
Net Interest on Advance from Department of Defence - 21,088
Capital Restructure Equity Repayment - (23,000,000)
Repayment of borrowings (1,839,059) (1,503,063)
Interest paid (1,224,038) (1,135,530)

NET CASH INFLOW (OUTFLOW) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ($3,063,097) ($2,617,505)

Net (Decrease) / Increase in cash held (1,826,398) 442,482
Cash at beginning of the financial year 4,670,898 4,228,416

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR A $2,844,500 $4,670,898
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townsville port authority 2003 ($) 2002 ($)

notes to the statement of cash flows
for the financial year ended 30 june 2003

A. Reconciliation of Cash

For the purposes of this statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on 
hand and at bank and investments, in money market instruments, readily 
convertible to cash at the investor's option. Cash at the end of the year is 
shown in the Statement of Financial Position as:

Cash on Hand 1,200 1,200
Cash at Bank 877,840 533,713
Term Deposits 1,965,460 2,845,173
Department of Defence Trust Account - 1,290,812

$2,844,500 $4,670,898

B. Reconciliation of Profit (Loss) from Ordinary Activities After Income 
Tax Equivalents Expense to Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities

Operating (Loss) / Profit after Income Tax Equivalents Expense and Abnormal Items (821,073) 91,048
Depreciation 6,862,306 6,949,934
Interest Expense 1,224,038 1,135,530
Profit on Disposal of Non-Current Assets - (18,614)
Loss on Disposal of Non-Current Assets 38,782 -
Income Tax Equivalents Expense 584,796 1,064,964

CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(Increase) Decrease in Trade Debtors 12,918 279,284
(Increase) Decrease in Utility Deposits 1,469 2,558
(Increase) Decrease in Prepayments (47,160) 51,155
Increase (Decrease) in Operating Trade Creditors 5,305 (272,862)
Increase (Decrease) in Operating Retention 59,854 47,623
Increase (Decrease) in Other Operating Creditors 43,859 (322,711)
Increase (Decrease) in Provisions (309,755) (46,560)
Increase (Decrease) in Provision for Taxation - (Tax Paid in Year) (457,211) (964,005)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $7,198,128 $7,997,344

C. Financing Facilities

The Authority has available a bank overdraft limit of $100,000. 
At 30 June 2003 no amount was drawn on this overdraft. Loan facilities 
as shown in note 12 to the accounts are provided by the Queensland 
Treasury Corporation. New borrowings are subject to the approved Loan 
Programme with the sanction of the Treasurer of Queensland.
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townsville port authority

notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 30 june 2003

> NOTE 1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND EXPLANATION OF ITEMS SHOWN IN THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Basis of Preparation of the Accounts

This financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting
Standards, and the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1977. The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and
is based on historical costs and does not take into account changing money values or, except where stated, current valuations
of non-current assets. The accounting policies have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies applied are consistent with those of the prior year. Where appropriate,
comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation and disclosure made of material changes 
to comparatives.

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Port Authority in the preparation of the 
financial report.

(b) Corporate Status

The Townsville Port Authority is a Statutory Government Owned Corporation, constituted on 1 July 1995 under the provisions
of the Government Owned Corporations Act 1993 (GOC Act). Under the terms of Section 127 of the GOC Act, the Financial
Administration and Audit Act 1977 applies to the Authority as if it were a Statutory Body.

(c) Taxation

As a Government owned corporation, the entity is not subject to Commonwealth income tax but as from 1 July 2001 the
Authority has been required to pay tax equivalents under the National Tax Equivalents Regime. The Authority, in accordance
with Accounting Standard AAS 3 "Accounting for Income Tax" is required to adopt tax effect accounting.

Future income tax benefits are not brought to account unless realisation of the asset is assured beyond reasonable doubt.
Future income tax benefits in relation to tax losses are not brought to account unless there is virtual certainty of realisation of
the benefit.

The amounts of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that no
adverse change will occur in income taxation equivalents legislation, and the anticipation that the economic entity will derive
sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed
by law.

(d) Cash Investments

All monies invested at 24 hour call and other short term deposits are recorded as cash for financial statement purposes due to
the liquidity of these assets. The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short term to maturity.

(e) Property Plant and Equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair values less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation.

Acquisition

The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of the assets provided as
consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. 

Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all acquisitions of assets controlled and administered by the Authority. 
Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal considerations are recognised at their fair value at date of acquisition. 

Cost is determined as the value given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred
in getting the asset ready for use, including architects' fees and engineering design fees.

Where assets are constructed by the Authority, the cost at which they are recorded includes an appropriate share of fixed and
variable overheads. No borrowing costs are included.

Property, plant and equipment items with a cost or value on excess of $500 and a useful life of more than one year are
recognised as an asset. All other items of property, plant and equipment are expensed on acquisition.

townsvi l le por t  author i t y f inancia l  repor t  2002/2003 43



notes to the financial statements

> NOTE 1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND EXPLANATION OF ITEMS SHOWN IN THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Assets carried at fair value

Channels and swing basins, freehold land, wharves, buildings, land improvements, small boat harbours and facilities, breakwaters and
access roads are measured on the fair value basis, being the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable
willing parties in an arm's length transaction. It is the policy of the Authority to have assets carried at fair value independently valued and
useful lives reassessed every five years, with annual appraisals being made by directors. An independent valuation and reassessment of
the useful lives of land, buildings and infrastructure assets was last performed as at 1st January 2000 by Edward Rushton Australia Pty
Ltd. For the reporting period ended 30 June 2002 the carrying amounts of non-current assets were indexed. The revaluation indices
were provided by Rushton (Qld) Pty. Ltd. For the current period ended 30 June 2003, revaluation of assets was not performed with the
exception of one asset acquired during the current period so that this asset could be recorded at fair value. The revaluation of freehold
land and buildings has not taken account of the potential capital gains tax on assets acquired after the introduction of capital gains tax.

Assets carried at cost

Plant and equipment, motor vehicles, beacons and capital works in progress are measured on the cost basis. Plant and equipment
and beacons were carried at a revalued amount in the previous reporting period. The Authority has elected to revert to the cost
basis for measuring these assets. The carrying amount of these assets as at 1 July 2001 was deemed to be their cost. The
carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount
from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows which will be received from
the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in
determining recoverable amounts. The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Authority includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and capitalised lease assets, but excluding freehold land, is
depreciated on a straight line basis over their useful lives to the Authority commencing from the time the asset is held ready for
use. For depreciation purposes, complex assets have been broken down into major components. Properties held for investment
purposes are not subject to depreciation. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period
of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

Depreciation Rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Channels, Swing Basins, and Wharves 2.5%

Plant, Equipment 5.0% - 33.3%

Land Improvements & Small Boat Harbours 2.5% - 10.0%

Buildings 5.0% - 10.0%

Breakwaters 2.0%

Motor Vehicles 25.0%

Access Roads 5.0%

Beacons 10.0%

The gain or loss on disposal of all fixed assets is determined as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the
time of disposal and the proceeds of disposal, and is included in profit (loss) from ordinary activities of the Authority in the year 
of disposal.

(f) Leases

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
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notes to the financial statements

> NOTE 1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND EXPLANATION OF ITEMS SHOWN IN THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(g) Employees' Provisions

Provision is made for the Authority's liability for employee entitlements arising from services rendered by employees to balance
date. Employee entitlements expected to be settled within one year together with entitlements arising from wages and salaries,
and annual leave which will be settled after one year, have been measured at their nominal amount. Other employee entitlements
payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those
entitlements, discounted by an average Commonwealth Bond rate which matches the term of the related liabilities.

The amount calculated for Long Service Leave entitlements in accordance with AAS30 is $489,916 (2002 was $538,760).
Payroll Tax, Workers Compensation and Superannuation are included in the total.

The current portion of long service leave has been calculated as a proportion of all employees with greater than seven years
service. This proportion is based upon long service leave actually taken by employees over a three year period.

Employees of the Authority are members of QSuper. Employer contributions to QSuper made by the Authority are charged as
expenses as the contributions are paid or become payable. For employees in QSuper, the Treasurer of Queensland, based on
advice received from the State Actuary, determines employer contributions for superannuation expenses.

No liability is recognised for accruing superannuation benefits in these financial statements, the liability being held on a 
whole-of-Government basis and reported in the whole of Government financial report prepared pursuant to AAS 31 - Financial
Reporting by Governments.

There were seventy-one [71] full-time employees as at 30 June 2003 (2002 was seventy-eight [78] ).

(h) Computer Software and Hardware

Computer hardware is currently depreciated over its expected useful economic life of three years. Associated communications
costs such as cabling and leased lines for the Authority's wide area network are fully expensed in the year the costs are incurred.

(i) Inventories

All stores have been expensed and accounted for in the Statement of Financial Performance.

(j) Receivables

Revenue is recognised when the Invoice is raised and is payable in 30 days. Collections are reviewed monthly. The carrying
amount approximates fair value.

(k) Payables

Expenditure is recognised when the goods/services are received. Usual payment is 30 days. The carrying amount approximates
fair value.

(l) Borrowing Costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. No borrowing costs are capitalised.
Borrowing costs include interest on borrowings.

(m)Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of
the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive
of GST.
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notes to the financial statements 2003 ($) 2002 ($) 2003 ($) 2002 ($)

> 2. PROFIT (LOSS) FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE (INCOME TAX REVENUE) 
INCLUDES THE FOLLOWING SPECIFIC REVENUES AND EXPENSES.

SERVICE REVENUE
Harbour Dues 17,257,322 16,479,341
Tonnage Rates 3,643,430 3,232,926
Rentals 2,124,558 2,196,277
Pilotage Revenue 988,454 1,772,200
Charges for Services

Water Sales 274,774 299,147
Services to Shipping 265,255 251,092
Boat Harbour Ross River 298,929 204,684
Boat Harbour Ross Creek 168,785 175,457
Electricity Sales 123,347 146,987
Picnic Bay Jetty 62,837 71,950
Breakwater Marina - Mooring Fees 71,566 47,854
Miscellaneous Plant 25,757 33,629
Breakwater Marina - Fuel Licence 19,700 21,064
Road Contribution Charge 86,951 17,950
Port Security 25,653 14,720
Main Harbour Fuel Licence Fee 1,080 11,168
Port Services 14,900 1,617
Sewage Treatment Plant 115 - 1,439,649 1,297,319

$25,453,413 $24,978,063

OTHER REVENUE
Revenue from sale of Plant & Equipment - 98,744
Carrying Value of Plant & Equipment Disposed of - 80,130

Gain on Sale of Plant & Equipment - 18,614
Miscellaneous Revenue 93,512 25,976

$93,512 $44,590

OTHER EXPENSES
Supplies & Services 12,951,278 10,928,479
Competitive Neutrality Fee 142,517 138,943
Land Tax 163,477 123,978
Audit Fees 70,290 70,503
Bad Debt Written Off 37,273 -
Lease Surrender Payment 450,000 -
Carrying Value of Plant & Equipment Disposed of 255,691 -
Revenue from sale of Plant & Equipment 216,909 -

Loss on Sale of Plant & Equipment 38,782 -

$13,853,617 $11,261,903

> 3. RETAINED PROFITS (ACCUMULATED LOSSES)

Retained profits (accumulated losses) at the beginning of the year (10,971,220) (11,097,648)
Net Profit (Loss) (821,075) 91,049
Transfers to and from Reserves

Maintenance Reserve Picnic Bay Jetty Maintenance Expenses 31,139 63,350
Maintenance Reserve Picnic Bay Jetty Passenger Levy Receipts (62,837) (71,950)
Berth 11 Reserve Transfer from retained Profits / Depreciation Expense 63,898 43,979

Retained profits (accumulated losses) at the reporting date ($11,760,095) ($10,971,220)
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notes to the financial statements 2003 ($) 2002 ($)

> 4. INCOME TAX EQUIVALENTS

(i) Prima facie tax equivalents (benefit) / payable on operating profit 
(loss) from ordinary activities is reconciled to the income tax provided 
in the accounts as follows:

Prima facie tax equivalents (benefit) / payable on operating profit (loss) 
from ordinary activities before income tax at 30%. (70,883) 346,805

Tax effect of permanent differences:-
Non-deductible entertainment 7,867 7,957
Non-deductible legal expenses 7,875 11,293
Non-deductible consultancy fees 27,658 24,183
Accounting depreciation on land and buildings 119,187 113,853
Accounting depreciation on non-depreciable items 612,697 691,746
Special building write-off (112,540) (108,119)
Sundry permanent differences (19,259) (18,192)
Accounting Profit / Loss on non-depreciable items 12,194 -
Refund of penalties paid in prior year - (4,562)

655,679 718,159

Income Tax Equivalents Expense $584,796 $1,064,964

(ii) Income Tax expense comprises:
Provision for deferred income tax 101,600 295,155
Future income tax benefit 65,949 25,417
Provision for income tax 417,247 748,954
Refund of penalties paid in prior year - (4,562)

$584,796 $1,064,964

> 5. RESERVES

Maintenance Reserve Picnic Bay Jetty 337,503 305,805
Asset Revaluation Reserve 14,312,773 15,212,773
Berth 11 Reserve 92,123 156,021

$14,742,399 $15,674,599

MOVEMENTS DURING THE YEAR:

MAINTENANCE RESERVE PICNIC BAY JETTY -
Amount at beginning of the financial year 305,805 297,205

Passenger Levy Receipts transferred from Retained Profits 62,837 71,950
Maintenance Expenses transferred to Retained Profits (31,139) (63,350)

Amount at the reporting date 337,503 305,805

ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE -
Amount at beginning of the financial year 15,212,773 11,928,134

Net Asset Revaluation Increment (Decrement) (900,000) 3,284,639

Amount at the reporting date 14,312,773 15,212,773

BERTH 11 RESERVE -
Amount at beginning of the financial year 156,021 200,000

Transfer from Retained Profits (63,898) (43,979)

Amount at the reporting date 92,123 156,021
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notes to the financial statements 2003 ($) 2002 ($)

> 6. EQUITY

Total equity at the beginning of the financial year 103,638,407 123,262,719
Equity restructure and repayment - (23,000,000)
Total changes in equity recognised in the
statement of financial performance (1,721,075) 3,375,688

Total equity at the reporting date $101,917,332 $103,638,407

> 7. CASH ASSETS

Cash on Hand 1,200 1,200
Cash at Bank 877,840 533,713
Term Deposits 1,965,460 2,845,173
Department of Defence Trust Account* - 1,290,812

$2,844,500 $4,670,898

* This amount represents an advance from Department of Defence at 
30 June 2002 as a contribution towards the cost of extensions to 
Berth 10 in exchange for future berthing rights. Use of these funds was 
restricted to payment of costs and expenses in relation to these works only. 
These works were completed in 2002/2003.

> 8. RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)

Trade Debtors 2,944,962 2,957,450
Less Provision for Doubtful Debts** (5,244) (4,814)

$2,939,718 $2,952,636

**There were no bad debts written off against the provision.

> 9. OTHER ASSETS

CURRENT
Prepayments 119,579 72,420
Utility Deposits 13,253 13,253

$132,832 $85,673

NON-CURRENT
Utility Deposits 9,950 11,419

$9,950 $11,419
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notes to the financial statements 2003 ($) 2002 ($)

> 10. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Accumulated Carrying Carrying
Gross Depreciation Amount Amount

($) ($) ($) ($)

CHANNELS AND SWING BASINS
At Directors' Valuation - January 2002 29,924,926 1,378,865 28,546,061 29,465,304

LAND
At Directors' Valuation - January 2002 26,443,506 - 26,443,506 25,857,928

WHARVES
At Directors' Valuation - January 2002 69,836,850 47,568,306 22,268,544 24,195,434
Additions 1,121,424 43,303 1,078,121 837,363

Total Wharves 70,958,274 47,611,609 23,346,665 25,032,797

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At Cost 28,712,973 16,828,090 11,884,883 13,316,694

BUILDINGS
At Directors' Valuation - January 2002 17,309,453 8,646,145 8,663,308 9,211,716
Additions 1,338,075 27,020 1,311,055 143,264

Total Buildings 18,647,528 8,673,165 9,974,363 9,354,980

IMPROVEMENTS (LAND)
At Directors' Valuation - January 2002 11,908,832 3,631,378 8,277,454 8,705,312
Additions 1,390,457 72,201 1,318,256 503,690

Total Improvements (Land) 13,299,289 3,703,579 9,595,710 9,209,002

SMALL BOAT HARBOURS
At Directors' Valuation - January 2002 6,012,101 3,403,952 2,608,149 2,773,942
Additions at Cost 83,100 1,176 81,924

Total Small Boat Harbours 6,095,201 3,405,128 2,690,073 2,773,942

BREAKWATERS
At Directors' Valuation - January 2002 2,331,279 148,969 2,182,310 2,281,623

ACCESS ROADS
At Directors' Valuation - January 2002 5,969,569 4,249,733 1,719,836 2,018,300
Motor Vehicles at Cost 614,085 350,590 263,495 475,339
Beacons at Cost 377,000 376,996 4 39,002
Capital Works in Progress* at cost 4,464,353 - 4,464,353 3,247,708

$207,837,983 $86,726,724 $121,111,259 $123,072,619

2003 ($) 2002 ($)

*Capital Works in Progress
Harbour Works 2,037,694 1,906,242
Equipment 471,944 73,041
Eastern Port Development 1,954,715 1,245,737
Building 22,688

$4,464,353 $3,247,708
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notes to the financial statements 2003 ($) 2002 ($)

> 10. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT (Continued)

2003 2003
Cost Fair Value
($) ($)

RECONCILIATION OF THE CARRYING AMOUNTS BY CLASS (CONTINUED)

CHANNELS AND SWING BASINS
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Fair Value 29,465,305

additions -
disposals -
net revaluation increment / (decrement) -
depreciation expense (919,244)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Fair Value 28,546,061

LAND
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Fair Value 25,857,928

additions 719,201
disposals (133,623)
net revaluation increment / (decrement) -
depreciation expense -

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Fair Value 26,443,506

WHARVES
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Fair Value 25,032,797

additions 297,379
disposals -
net revaluation increment / (decrement) -
depreciation expense (1,983,511)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Fair Value 23,346,665

PLANT & EQUIPMENT
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Cost 13,316,694

additions 841,375
disposals (40,277)
transfers between asset classes -
recoverable amount write-down (83,842)
depreciation expense (2,149,067)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Cost 11,884,883

BUILDINGS
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Fair Value 9,354,980

additions 2,009,285
disposals -
transfers between asset classes -
net revaluation increment / (decrement) (816,158)
depreciation expense (573,744)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Fair Value 9,974,363

IMPROVEMENTS (LAND)
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Fair Value 9,209,002

additions 862,976
disposals -
transfers between asset classes -
net revaluation increment / (decrement) -
depreciation expense (476,268)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Fair Value 9,595,710
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> 10. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT (Continued)

2003 2003
Cost Fair Value
($) ($)

RECONCILIATION OF THE CARRYING AMOUNTS BY CLASS (CONTINUED)

SMALL BOAT HARBOURS AND FACILITIES
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Fair Value 2,773,942

additions 83,100
disposals -
net revaluation increment / (decrement) -
depreciation expense (166,969)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Fair Value 2,690,073

BREAKWATERS
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Fair Value 2,281,622

additions -
disposals -
net revaluation increment / (decrement) -
depreciation expense (99,312)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Fair Value 2,182,310

ACCESS ROADS
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Fair Value 2,018,300

additions -
disposals -
net revaluation increment / (decrement) -
depreciation expense (298,464)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Fair Value 1,719,836

MOTOR VEHICLES
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Cost 475,339

additions 24,404
disposals (79,518)
net revaluation increment / (decrement) -
depreciation expense (156,730)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Cost 263,495

BEACONS
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Cost 39,002

additions -
disposals -
net revaluation increment / (decrement) -
depreciation expense (38,998)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Cost 4

*CAPITAL WORKS IN PROGRESS
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year at Cost 3,247,708

additions 6,056,640
disposals (4,839,995)
net revaluation increment / (decrement) -
recoverable amounts write-downs -
depreciation expense -

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year at Cost 4,464,353
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> 11. PAYABLES (CURRENT)

Trade Creditors 2,598,666 2,005,004
Revenue in Advance 500,596 465,992
Retention 197,118 118,801
Accrued Wages 50,604 71,166
Pilotage Clearing Account 497 62
Trust Fund Deposits 40,199 10,382
Advance from Department of Defence - 61

$3,387,680 $2,671,468

> 12. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES

Current 1,926,219 1,840,337
Non-Current 17,731,659 19,656,601

$19,657,878 $21,496,938

All borrowings are with Queensland Treasury Corporation. The Queensland 
Treasury Corporation recorded a market value adjustment of $798,453, 
(2002 was ($162,307)) principally as a result of past movements in the 
market value of liabilities in the Debt Pools giving a market debt 
outstanding of $20,456,331 (2002 was $21,334,631).

> 13. PROVISIONS

CURRENT
Employees' Long Service Leave 35,025 129,259
Employees' Annual Leave 291,477 443,394
Fringe Benefits Tax 19,626 23,901
Competitive Neutrality Fee 38,124 142,843

$384,252 $739,397

NON-CURRENT
Employees' Long Service Leave $454,891 $409,501

> 14. PAYABLES (NON-CURRENT)

Rent in Advance $22,000 $750,892

> 15. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

AUTHORISED CAPITAL
500,000,000 ordinary shares of $1 each $500,000,000 $500,000,000

ISSUED CAPITAL
Amount at beginning of the financial year - 98,935,028 ordinary shares of $1 each fully paid 98,935,028 121,935,028

Equity repayment resulting from capital restructure performed as per - 23,000,000
direction from Shareholding Ministers

Amount at the reporting date - 98,935,028 ordinary shares of $1 each fully paid $98,935,028 $98,935,028
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> 16. DEVELOPMENT BUREAU & COMMUNITY PROJECTS

The Authority supported the following Development Bureau and community projects:-
Townsville Enterprise Incorporated 62,000 60,000
Townsville City Council - Contribution to the Strand sand replenishment 50,000 50,000
Townsville Maritime Museum 56,934 35,000
The Salvation Army Red Shield Appeal 4,546 5,000
James Cook University of North Queensland Prizes 1,750 1,750

$175,230 $151,750

> 17. CONSULTANCY EXPENDITURE

Professional/Technical 746,217 334,236
Management 12,124 12,159
Human Resource Management 22,382 63,906
Finance/Accounting 27,249 40,098
Information Technology 4,534 2,838
Communication - 3,231

$812,506 $456,468

> 18. COMMITMENTS

(A) CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS (GST INCLUSIVE)

Plant & Equipment $37,275 $257,799

Depending on works performance these commitments are payable 
not later than one year.

(B) OPERATING LEASES

There were no operating leases in place at 30 June 2003 (2002 was nil)

> 19. CONTINGENT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

There were no known contingent assets/liabilities of a significant nature 
at 30 June 2003.

> 20. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Authority operates predominantly in one industry being that of seaport 
management and control. It operates predominantly in one geographic 
segment being Townsville.

> 21. AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

Amounts received or due and receivable by the auditors for auditing the accounts. $31,850 $31,700
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> 22. SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND DIRECTORS REMUNERATION

SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Number of senior executives whose remuneration from the Authority were
within the bands listed below

2002/2003 2001/2002

$120,000 - $129,999 1 1
$130,000 - $139,999 1 -
$150,000 - $159,999 - 1
$180,000 - $189,999 1 -

The aggregate remuneration paid to the above executives was $445,925 $276,249
Aggregate performance payments or bonuses paid. - -
Number of employees who received a performance payment or bonus. - -

DIRECTORS REMUNERATION

Remuneration received or due and receivable by all directors of the Townsville 
Port Authority from all activities in the economic entity, including insurance 
premiums to indemnify liabilities while acting as a director. $126,975 $125,975

Numbers of directors whose remuneration from the Authority were within 
the bands listed below

2002/2003 2001/2002

$10,000 - $19,999 7 7
$20,000 - $29,999 1 1

DIRECTORS RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Amounts paid to prescribed superannuation funds for the provision of 
retirement benefits for directors $9,153 $8,056

> 23. RELATED PARTY INFORMATION

From time to time Directors and Director related entities have commercial 
dealings with the Authority. These transactions are conducted on arms 
length terms and conditions. Directors declare their interest on commercial 
dealings at Board meetings.
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> 24. DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(I) INTEREST RATE RISK

The Authority's exposure to interest rate risk and the effective 
weighted average interest rate for classes of financial assets and 
financial liabilities is set out below.

Fixed Rate Maturing In
Weighted

Non Interest Carrying Amount as Average
0-1 Years 1-5 Years Over 5 Years Bearing per Balance Sheet Book Rate

Financial Instrument 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash on Hand - - - - - - 1,200 1,300 1,200 1,300 - -
Cash at Bank 877,840 533,713 - - - - - - 877,840 533,713 3.75% 3.52%
Short Term Deposits 1,965,460 2,845,173 - - - - - - 1,965,460 2,845,173 5.13% 4.63%
Dept of Defence Trust Account - 1,290,812 - - - - - - - 1,290,812 - 1.24%
Receivables - See note 1(j) - - - - - - 2,939,718 2,952,639 2,939,718 2,952,639 - -

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Payables - See Note 1(k) - - - - - - 3,409,679 3,433,816 3,409,679 3,433,816 - -
QTC Borrowings 1,926,219 1,840,337 8,750,579 11,116,983 19,657,878 21,496,938 5.92% 5.81%

8,981,080 8,539,618 - -

In the above Financial Instruments, book value equates to net fair value, 
with the exception of QTC Borrowings. The market rate of QTC 
Borrowings as at 30th June 2003 was $20,456,331 (at 30th June 2002 
was $21,334,631).

(II) CREDIT RISK

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any 
collateral or other security, at balance date to recognised financial 
assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts, 
as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.

(II I) NET FAIR VALUES

The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest 
bearing financial assets and financial liabilities of the Authority 
approximates their carrying value. See note 1(d)

> 25. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER BALANCE DATE

(i) No events were noted in the previous years Annual Financial Report 
as occurring after balance date.
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townsville port authority

certificate of townsville port authority
We have prepared the foregoing annual financial statements pursuant to the provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit 
Act 1977 and certify that -

(a) the foregoing financial statements and notes to and forming part thereof are in agreement with the accounts and records of
Townsville Port Authority; and

(b) in our opinion -

(i) the prescribed requirements in respect of the establishment and keeping of accounts have been complied with in all
material respects; and

(ii) the foregoing annual financial statements have been drawn up so as to present a true and fair view, in accordance with
prescribed accounting standards, the transactions of the Authority for the period 1 July 2002 to 30 June 2003 and of the
financial position as at the close of that year.

16th September 2003

L. M. McDougall B. W. Holden R. G. McLean
Manager - Finance Chief Executive Officer Chairman
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townsville port authority

directors' statement
At the date of this statement, in the opinion of the Directors, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Authority will be able
to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

16th September 2003

R. G. McLean B. K. Keating
Chairman Deputy Chairperson

townsvi l le por t  author i t y f inancia l  repor t  2002/2003 57



townsville port authority

independent audit report
to the board of the townsville port authority

scope

The Financial Statements

The financial statements of Townsville Port Authority consist of the statement of financial performance, statement of financial
position, statement of cash flows, notes to and forming part of the financial statements and certificates given by the Chairperson
and officer responsible for the financial administration of Townsville Port Authority, for the year ended 30 June 2003.

The Board’s Responsibility

The Board is responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial statements, the maintenance of
adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error and for the accounting
policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial statements.

Audit Approach

As required by law, an independent audit was conducted in accordance with QAO Auditing Standards to enable me to provide an
independent opinion whether in all material respects the financial statements present fairly, in accordance with the prescribed
requirements, including any mandatory financial reporting requirements as approved by the Treasurer for application in Queensland.

Audit procedures included –

> examining information on a test/sample basis to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements;

> assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the Board;

> obtaining written confirmation regarding the material representations made in conjunction with the audit; and

> reviewing the overall presentation of information in the financial statements.

independence
The Financial Administration and Audit Act 1977 promotes the independence of the Auditor-General and QAO authorised auditors.

The Auditor-General is the auditor of all public sector entities and can only be removed by Parliament.

The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate and is not subject to direction by any person about
the way in which powers are to be exercised.

The Auditor-General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all documents and property and can report to
Parliament matters which in the Auditor-General’s opinion are significant.

audit opinion
In accordance with s.46G of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1977 –

(a) I have received all the information and explanations which I have required; and

(b) in my opinion –

(i) the prescribed requirements in respect of the establishment and keeping of accounts have been complied with in all
material respects; and

(ii) the statements have been drawn up so as to present a true and fair view, in accordance with the prescribed accounting
standards of the transactions of the Townsville Port Authority for the financial year 1 July 2002 to 30 June 2003 and of
the financial position as at the end of that year.

J E Harten FCPA
Assistant Auditor-General (As Delegate of the Auditor-General of Queensland) Queensland Audit Office, Brisbane
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